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This Prospectus Supplement

This prospectus supplement (the "Prospectus Supplement™) to the base prospectus dated 12 January 2024
prepared by Goldman, Sachs & Co. Wertpapier GmbH ("GSW") as issuer, Goldman Sachs Finance Cop
International Ltd ("GSFCI") asissuer, Goldman SachsInternational ("GSI") as issuerand as guarantor in respect
of certain Securities only and The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. ("GSG") as guarantor in respect of certain
Securities only (the "Original Base Prospectus™) under their Series P programme for the issuance of wamants,
notes and certificates with respect to the Securities (the "Programme"), constitutes a supplement to the Base
Prospectus for the purposes of Article 23(1) of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the "EU Prospectus
Regulation™)andshould be read in conjunctionwith Prospectus Supplement dated 19 January 2024 to the Final
Terms dated 3 January 2024 (in respect of certain Securities only) issued under the Original Base Prospectus,
Prospectus SupplementNo. 1 to the Original Base Prospectus dated 16 February 2024, the Prospectus Supplement
dated 20 March 2024 to the Final Terms dated 14 February 2024 (in respect of certain Securities only (1SIN:
XS2653923693)) issued under the Original Base Prospectus, the Prospectus Supplement dated 20 March 2024 to
the Final Terms dated 14 February 2024 (in respect of certain Securities only (ISIN: XS2653903075)) issued
under the Original Base Prospectus and Prospectus Supplement No. 2 to the Original Base Prospectus dated 22
March 2024 (the Original Base Prospectus as so supplemented, the "Base Prospectus™). On 12 January 2024, the
Original Base Prospectus was approved by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the "CSSF")
forthe purposes of Article 6 of the Luxembourg Law dated 16 July 2019 on prospectusesfor securities and by the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange's Euro MTF market.



Terms defined in the Base Prospectus have the same meaning when used in this Prospectus Supplement unless
otherwise defined herein. This Prospectus Supplement shall form partof and beread in conjunction with the Base
Prospectus.

Right of withdrawal

In accordance with Article 23(2) of the EU Prospectus Regulation, investors in the European Economic
Area who have already agreed to purchase or subscribe for Securities issued under the Base Prospectus
before this Prospectus Supplement is published and where the Securities have not yet been delivered to
them at the time when the significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy to which this
Prospectus Supplement relates, arose orwas noted and for where any of the information in this Prospectus
Supplement relates to such Securities (within the meaning of Article 23(4) of the EU Prospectus Regulation)
have the right, exercisable until 3 May 2024, which is two working days after the publication of this
Prospectus Supplement, to withdraw their acceptances. Investors may contact the relevant Authorised
Offeror(s) (assetout inthe Final Termsof the relevant Securities) should they wish to exercise such right
of withdrawal.

Applicable Final Terms

The amendments included in this Prospectus Supplement shall only apply to the Final Terms dated 3 April, 2024
(in respect of certain Securities only (ISIN GBOOBS5FG858)) and to Final Terms, the date of which falk on or
after the approval of this Prospectus Supplement.

Responsibility

Each of GSI, GSW, GSFCI and GSG accepts responsibility for the information given in this Prospectus
Supplement and confirms that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information
contained in this Prospectus Supplementis, to the best of their knowledge, in accordance with the facts and does
not omit anything likely to affect its import.

Purpose of this Prospectus Supplement

The purpose of this Prospectus Supplementis to (a) incorporate by reference GSI's 2023 Annual Report (as defined
below)and GSG's 15 April 2024 Form 8-K (as defined below), and (b) make certain changes to the information
in the "Risk Factors", "Documents Incorporated by Reference”, "General Terms and Conditions of the
Instruments”, "General Terms and Conditions of the Notes", "Index Linked Conditions", "Fund Linked
Conditions", "Swap Rate Linked Conditions", "Interest Reference Rate Linked Conditions™, "Form of Final Terms
(Instruments)”, "Form of Final Terms (Notes)", "Form of Pricing Supplement (Instruments)", “Form of Pricing
Supplement (Notes)", "Goldman Sachs International " and “General Information" sections of the Base Prospectus.

This Prospectus Supplementandthe document(s) incorporated by reference into this Prospectus Supplement will
be available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange at www.luxse.com.

Information being supplemented
Incorporation by reference
This Prospectus Supplement supplements the Base Prospectus by incorporating by reference:

@) the Annual Report for the twelve months ended 31 December 2023 of Goldman Sachs Intemational
("GSI's 2023 Annual Report"”) containing, in Part 11 the Directors' Report and Audited Financial
Statements of GSI for the period ended 31 December 202 3; and

(b) the Current Report on Form 8-K dated 15 April 2024 of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. ("GSG's 15
April 2024 Form 8-K"), as filed with the SEC on 15 April 2024.

Copies of GSI's 2023 Annual Report and GSG's 15 April 2024 Form 8-K have been filed with the CSSF in its
capacity as competentauthority under the Luxembourg Law dated 16 July 2019 on prospectuses for securities.


http://www.luxse.com/

GSlI's 2023 Annual Report and GSG's 15 April 2024 Form 8-K are incorporated by reference into, and form part
of, this Prospectus Supplement, and the information contained in this Prospectus Supplement and GSI's 2023
AnnualReportand GSG's 15 April 2024 Form 8-K shallbe deemed to update and, where applicable, supersede
any information contained in the Base Prospectus, or any documents incorporated by reference therein.

Amendments and updates to certain information in the Base Prospectus

The Base Prospectus is amended and supplemented as follows:

1. Amendments to the section entitled "'Risk Factors™

The information in the section entitled "Risk Factors" isamended and supplemented by:

@)

"2.

deleting sub-section 2 entitled "Risks relatingto GSI" on pages 25 to 45 ofthe Base Prospectus
in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

Risks relating to GSI

GSI facesa variety of risks that are substantialandinherent in its businesses. The principal risks
and uncertainties that GSI faces are: marketrisk, liquidity risk, credit risk, operational risk, legal
and regulatory risk, competition risk, and market developments and general business
environment risk.

2.1  Liquidity Risks

@)

GSI's liquidity, profitability and businesses may be adversely affected by an
inability to access the debt capital markets or to sell assets

Liquidity is essential to GSI's businesses. It is of critical importance to GSl, as
most of the failures of financial institutions have occurred in large part due to
insufficient liquidity. GSl's liquidity may be impaired by an inability to access
secured and/or unsecured debt markets, aninability to access funds from GSG or
other GS Group affiliates, an inability to sell assets or redeem investments, lack
of timely settlement of transactions, or other unforeseen outflows of cash or
collateral. Thissituation may arise due to circumstances that GSI may be unable
to control, such as a general market or economic disruption or an operational
problem that affects third parties or GSI or its affiliates oreven by the perception
among market participants that GSI, or other market participants, are experiencing
greater liquidity risk.

GSl employs structured products to benefit its clients and hedge its ownrisks. The
financial instruments that GSI holds and the contracts to which it is a party are
often complex, and these complex structured products often do not have readily
available markets to access in times of liquidity stress. GSl's investing and
financingactivities may lead to situations where the holdings from these activities
represent a significant portion of specific markets, which could restrict liquidity
for GSl's positions.

Further, GSI's ability to sell assets may be impaired if there is not generally a
liquid market for such assets, as well as in circumstances where other market
participants are seeking to sell similar otherwise generally liquid assets at the
same time, asis likely to occurin a liquidity or other market crisis or in response
to changes to rules or regulations. For example, in 2021, an investment
management firm with large positions with several financial institutions defaulted,
resulting in rapidly declining prices in the securities underlying those positions.
In addition, clearing houses, exchanges and other financial institutions with which
GSI interacts may exercise set-off rights or the right to require additional
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collateral, including in difficult market conditions, which could further impair
GSl's liquidity.

Numerous regulations have been adopted that impose more stringent liquidity
requirements on large financial institutions, including us. These regulations
require GSI to hold large amounts of highly liquid assets and reduce GSl's
flexibility to source and deploy funding.

GSlI's businesses have been and may in the future be adversely affected by
disruptions or lack of liquidity inthe credit markets, including reduced access
to credit and higher costs of obtaining credit

Widening credit spreads for GSI or GSG, as well as significant declines in the
availability of credit, have in the pastadversely affected GSl's ability to bomow
on a secured and unsecured basis and may do so in the future. GSI obtains the
majority of its unsecured funding indirectly from GSG, which funds itself on an
unsecured basis by issuing long-term debt, by raising deposits at its bank
subsidiaries, by issuing hybrid financial instruments and by obtaining bank loans
or lines of credit. GSI seeks to finance many of its assets on a secured basis. Any
disruptions in the credit markets may make it harder and more expensive to
obtain funding for businesses. If GSI's available funding is limited or GSI is
forced to fund operations at a higher cost, these conditions may require
curtailment of business activities and increase the cost of funding, both of which
could reduce profitability, particularly in businesses that involve investing and
market making.

Clients engaging in mergers, acquisitions and other types of strategic
transactions often rely on access to the secured and unsecured credit markets to
finance theirtransactions. A lack of available creditoran increased cost of credit
can adversely affect the size, volume and timing of clients' merger and
acquisition transactions, particularly large transactions, and adversely affect
GSl's advisory and underwriting businesses.

GSI's credit businesses have been and may in the future be negatively affected
by a lack of liquidity in credit markets. A lack of liquidity reduces price
transparency, increases price volatility and decreases transaction volumes and
size, all of which can increase transaction risk or decrease the profitability of
these businesses.

Reductions in GSI's and/or GSG’s credit ratings or an increase in its credit
spreads may adversely affect its liquidity and cost of funding

GSl is anindirect, wholly-owned operating subsidiary of GSG and depends on
GSG for capital and funding. The credit ratings of GSI and those of GSG are
important to GSl's liquidity. A reduction in GSl's and/or GSG's credit ratings
could adversely affect GSl's liquidity and competitive position, increase
borrowing costs, limit access to the capital markets or funding from GSG or
trigger obligations under certain provisions in some trading and collateralised
financing contracts. Under these provisions, counterparties could be permitted
to terminate contracts with GSI or GSG or require additional collateral.
Termination of tradingand collateralised financing contracts could cause losses
and impair liquidity by requiring GSG or GSI to find other sources of financing
or to make significant cash payments or securities movements.

GSl's cost of obtaining long-term unsecured funding is directly related to both
the credit spreads (the amount in excess of the interest rate of benchmark



securities that we need to pay) of GSI and GSG increases in the credit spreads
of GSl and/or GSG can significantly increase the cost of this funding. Changes
in credit spreads are continuous, market-driven, and subject at times to
unpredictable and highly volatile movements. The credit spreads of GSI and/or
GSG are also influenced by market perceptions of GSl's and/or GSG's
creditworthiness and movements in the costs to purchasers of credit default
swaps referenced to GSG's long-term debt. The market for credit default swaps
has provento be extremely volatile and at times has lacked a high degree of
transparency or liquidity.

2.2 Market Risks

@)

GSlI's businesses have been and may in the future be adversely affected by
conditionsinthe global financial markets and broader economicconditions

GSI's businesses, by their nature, do not produce predictable earnings and are
materially affected by conditions in the global financial markets and economic
conditions generally, both directly and through their impact on client activity
levels and creditworthiness. These conditions can change suddenly and
negatively.

GSlI'sfinancial performance is highly dependentontheenvironmentin which its
businesses operate. A favourable business environment is generaly
characterised by, among other factors, high global gross domestic product
growth, regulatory and market conditions that result in transparent, liquid and
efficient capital markets, low inflation, business, consumer and investor
confidence, stable geopolitical conditions and strong business earnings.

Unfavourable or uncertain economic and market conditions can be caused by:
low levels of or declines in economic growth, business activity or investor,
business or consumer confidence; concerns overa potential recession; changes
in consumer spending or borrowing patterns; pandemics; limitations on the
availability or increases in the cost of credit and capital; illiquid markets;
increases in inflation, interest rates, exchange rate or basic commaodity price
volatility or default rates; high levels of inflation or stagflation; concems about
sovereign defaults; uncertainty concerning fiscal or monetary policy; the extent
of and uncertainty about potential increases in tax rates and other regulatory
changes; limitations on international trade and travel; laws and regulations that
limit trading in, or the issuance of, securities of issuers outside their domestic
markets; outbreaks or worsening of domestic or international tensions or
hostilities, terrorism, nuclear proliferation, cybersecurity threats or attacks and
other forms of disruption to or curtailment of global communication, energy
transmission or transportation networks or other geopolitical instability or
uncertainty; corporate, political or other scandals that reduce investor confidence
in capital markets; extreme weather events or other natural disasters; or a
combination of these or other factors.

The financial services industry and the securities and other financial markets
have beenmaterially and adversely affected in the pastby significantdeclines in
the values of nearly all asset classes, by a serious lack of liquidity and by high
levels of borrower defaults. In addition, concerns about actual or potential
increases in interest rates, inflation and other borrowing costs, public health
emergency, sovereign debt risk and its impact on the relevant sovereign banking
system, and limitations on international trade, have, at times, negatively
impacted the levels of client activity.



General uncertainty about economic, political and market activities, and the
scope, timing and impact of regulatory reform, as well as weak consumer,
investorand chief executive officer confidence resulting in large part from such
uncertainty, has in the pastnegatively impacted client activity, which has in the
past adversely affected and could in the future adversely affect many of GSI's
businesses. Periods of low volatility and periods of high volatility combined with
a lack of liquidity, have at times had an unfavourable impact on GSI's market-
making businesses.

Changes, or proposed changes, to U.S. international trade and investment
policies, particularly with important trading partners, have in recent years
negatively impacted financial markets. Continued or escalating tensions may
result in further actions taken by the U.S. or other countries that could disrupt
international trade and investment and adversely affect financial markets. Those
actions could include, among others, the implementation of sanctions, tariffs or
foreign exchange measures, the large-scale sale of U.S. Treasury securities or
other restrictions on cross-border trade, investment, or transfer of information or
technology. Suchdevelopments have in the pastaffectedand could in the future
adversely affect GSI or GSlI's clients' businesses.

Financial institution returns may be negatively impacted by increased funding
costsdue in partto the lack of perceived governmentsupport of such institutions
in the eventof future financial crises relative to financial institutions in countries
in which governmental support is maintained. In addition, liquidity in the
financial markets has in the past been, and could in the future be negatively
impacted as market participants and market practices and structures adjust to
evolving regulatory frameworks.

InJune 2023, the U.S. federal government suspended the federal debt limit until
2025. If Congress does not raise the debt ceiling prior to 2025, the U.S. could
default onits obligations, including Treasury securities that play an integral role
in financial markets. Adefault by the U.S. could result in unprecedented market
volatility and illiquidity, heightened operational risks relating to the clearance
and settlement of transactions, margin and other disputes with clients and
counterparties, an adverse impact to investors including money market funds
that invest in U.S. Treasuries, downgrades in the U.S. credit rating, further
increases in interestrates and borrowing costs anda recession in the U.S. or other
economies. Continued uncertainty relating to the debt ceiling could result in
downgrades of the U.S. credit rating, which could adversely affect market
conditions, lead to margin disputes, further increases in interest rates and
borrowing costs and necessitate significant operational changes among market
participants, including us. Adowngrade of the U.S. federal government's credit
rating could also materially and adversely affect the market for repurchase
agreements, securities borrowing and lending, and other financings typically
collateralised by U.S. Treasury or agency obligations. Further, the fair value,
liquidity and credit ratings of securities issued by, or other obligations of,
agencies ofthe U.S. governmentor related to the U.S. government or its agencies,
aswell asmunicipal bonds could be similarly adversely affected. An increasing
frequency of governmentshutdowns, or near shutdowns, in the U.S. could ako
lead to uncertainty as to the continued funding of the U.S. government, which
could, in turn, adversely affect the credit ratings of the U.S. and the market for
U.S. Treasury or agency obligations.

In 2024, numerous elections will be held globally. As a result, there may be a
significant marketuncertainty in the periods leadingupto theelections andthis
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could cause highervolatility, lower levels of market activity and other adverse
conditions for GSI’s businesses.

The outcomes ofthe elections couldalso result in significant changes in policy,
which could also have adverse effects on GSI or the business environment in
which GSI operates more generally.

GSl's businesses have been and may in the future be adversely affected by
declining asset values, particularly where GSI has net "'long" positions,
receives fees based on the value of assets managed, or receives or posts
collateral

Many of GSl's businesses have net "long" positions in debt securities, loans,
derivatives, mortgages, equities (including private equity) and most other a sset
classes. These include positions taken when GSl acts as a principal to facilitate
clients' activities, including exchange-based market-making activities, or
commits large amounts of capital to maintain positions in interest rate and credit
products, as well as through currencies, commodities, equities and mortgage-
related activities. In addition, GSI invests in similarasset classes. Substantially
all of GSlI's investing and market-making positions are marked-to-market on a
daily basisanddeclines in asset valuesdirectly and immediately impactearnings,
unless GSI has effectively "hedged" its exposures to those declines.

In certain circumstances (particularly in the case of credit products and private
equities or other securities that are not freely tradable or lack established and
liquid trading markets), it may not be possible oreconomic for GSI to hedge its
exposuresandtotheextent thatthis is donethehedge may be ineffective or may
greatly reduce GSl's ability to profit from increases in the values of the assets.
Sudden declines andsignificant volatility in the prices of assets have in the past
substantially curtailed or eliminated, and may in the future substantially curtail
or eliminate, the trading markets for certain assets, which may make it difficult
to sell, hedge or value such assets. GSI may incur losses from time to time as
trading markets deteriorate or cease to function, including with respect to
securities offerings GSI has underwritten. The inability to sell or effectively
hedge assets reduces GSl's ability to limit losses in such positions and the
difficulty in valuing assets has in the past negatively affected, and may in the
future negatively affect, GSI's capital, liquidity or leverage ratios, its funding
costs and its ability to deploy capital.

In GSI's exchange-based market-making activities, GSI is obligated by stock
exchange rules tomaintain an orderly market, including by purchasing securities
in a decliningmarket. Inmarkets whereassetvalues are decliningand in volatile
markets, this results in losses and an increased need for liquidity.

Collateral is posted to supportobligations of GSI and received that supports the
obligations of clientsand counterparties. Whenthe value ofthe assets posted as
collateral or the credit ratings of the party posting collateral decline, the party
posting the collateral may need to provide additional collateral or, if possible,
reduce its trading position. An example of such a situation isa "margin call" in
connection with a brokerage account. Therefore, declines in the value of asset
classes used as collateral mean that either the cost of funding positions is
increased or the size of positions is decreased. If GSI is the party providing
collateral, this can increase costs and reduce profitability and if GSI is the party
receiving collateral, this can also reduce profitability by reducing the level of
business done with clients and counterparties.
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In addition, volatile or less liquid markets increase the difficulty of valuing assets
which can leadto costly and time-consuming disputes over asset values and the
level of required collateral, as well as increased credit risk to therecipient of the
collateral due to delays in receiving adequate collateral. In cases where GSI
forecloses on collateral, suddendeclines in thevalue or liquidity of the collateral
have in the past resulted in and may in the future, result in significant losses to
GSI, especially where there is a single type of collateral supporting the
obligation. Inaddition, GSI may be subject to claims that the foreclosure was
not permitted under the legal documents, was conducted in animproper manner,
including in violation of law, or caused a client or counterparty to go out of
business.

GSlI's market-making activities have been and may in the future be affected by
changes in the levels of market volatility

Certain of GSI’s market-making activities depend on market volatility to provide
trading and arbitrage opportunities to our clients, and decreases in volatility
have reduced and may in the future reduce these opportunities and the level of
client activity associated with them and have adversely affected and may in the
future adversely affect the results of these activities. Increased volatility, while
it can increase tradingvolumesand spreads, also increases risk as measured by
Value-at-Risk (VaR) and increases risks in connection with GSl's market-
makingactivities and can cause GSI to reduceits inventory. Limiting the size of
GSI’s market-making positions can adversely affect GSI's profitability. In
periods when volatility is increasing, butassetvalues are declining significantly,
it may not be possible to sell assetsatallorit may only be possible to do so at
steep discounts. In those circumstances, GSI hasbeen and may in the future be
forced toeither take on additional risk or to realize losses in order to decrease its
VaR. In addition, increases in volatility increase the level of GSI's RWAs, which
increases the amountof capital that GSl is required to hold, andthis can reduce
GSl's profitability and reduce its ability to distribute capital to its shareholders.

GSlI's investment banking and client intermediation businesses have been
adversely affected and may in the future be adversely affected by market
uncertainty or lack of confidenceamong investors and chief executive officers
due to declines in economic activity and other unfavourable economic,
geopolitical or market conditions

GSI's investment banking business has been and may in the future be adversely
affected by market conditions. Poor economic conditions and other uncertain
geopolitical conditions may adversely affect and have in the past adversely
affected investor and CEO confidence, resulting in significant industry-wide
declines in the size and number of underwritings and of advisory transactions,
which would likely have and have in the past had an adverse effect on GSI's
revenuesand profit margins. In particular, because a significant portion of GSI's
investment banking revenues is derived from GSl's participation in large
transactions, a decline in the number of large transactions has in the pastand
would in the future adversely affect GSl's investment banking business.
Similarly, in recent years, cross-border initial public offerings and other
securities offerings have accounted for a significantproportion of new issuance
activity. Legislative, regulatory or other changes that limit trading in, or the
issuance of, securities outside the issuers’ domestic markets, that result in or
could result in the delisting or removal of securities from exchanges or indices,
have in the past adversely affected and would in the future adversely affect GSI's
underwriting and client intermediation businesses. Furthermore, changes, or
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proposed changes, to international tradeand investment policies of the U.S. and
othercountries could negatively affect market activity levels and GSI's revenues.

In certain circumstances, market uncertainty or general declines in market or
economic activity may adversely affect GSI's client intermediation businesses
by decreasing levels of overall activity or by decreasing volatility.

Inflation has had, and could continue to have, a negative effect on GSI's
business, results of operations and financial condition

Inflationary pressures have affected economies, financial markets and market
participants worldwide. Inflationary pressures have increased certain of GSI's
operating expenses, and have adversely affected consumer sentiment and CEO
confidence. Central bank responses to inflationary pressures have also resulted
in higher marketinterestrates, which, in turn, have contributed to lower activity
levels across financial markets, in particular for debt underwriting transactions
and mortgage originations, and resulted in lower values for certain financil
assetswhich have adversely affected GSI's equity and debt investments. Higher
interest rates increase GSI's borrowing costs. If inflationary pressures persis,
GSl's expenses may increase further; activity levels for certain of GSl's
businesses, in particular debtunderwriting, may decline; GSI's interest expense
could increase faster than GSlI's interest income, reducing GSl's net interest
income and net interest margin; certain of GSI's investments could continue to
incur losses or generally low levels of returns; assets under supervision could
decline, reducing management and other fees; economies worldwide coukd
experience recessions; and GSI could continue to operate in a generally
unfavourable economic and market environment.

2.3 Credit Risks

@)

GSl's businesses, profitability and liquidity may be adversely affected by
deterioration in the credit quality of or defaults by third parties

GSl is exposedto the risk that third parties who owe money, securities or other
assets will not perform their obligations. These parties may default on their
obligations to GSI due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or
other reasons. A failure of a significant market participant, or even concems
about adefault by suchan institution, has in the past and could in the future kead
to significant liquidity problems, losses or defaults by other institutions, which
in turn could adversely affect GSI.

GSl is also subjectto the risk that its rights against third parties may not be
enforceable in all circumstances. In addition, deterioration in the credit quality
of third parties whose securities or obligations are held by GSI, including a
deterioration in the value of collateral posted by third parties to secure their
obligationsto GSI under derivativescontracts and loanagreements, could result
in lossesand/oradversely affect GSI's ability to rehypothecate or otherwise use
those securities or obligations for liquidity purposes.

A significant downgrade in the credit ratings of GSI's counterparties could ako
have a negative impact on GSl's results. While in many cases GSI is permitted
to require additional collateral from counterparties that experience financial
difficulty, disputes may arise as to the amount of collateral GSI is entitled to
receive and the value of pledged assets. The termination of contracts and the
foreclosureon collateral may subject GSI to claims for the improper exercise of
its rights. Default rates, downgrades and disputes with counterparties as to the
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valuation of collateral typically increase significantly in times of marketstress,
increased volatility and illiquidity.

As part of GSI's clearingand primefinancing activities, GSI finances its clients'
positions, and GSI could be held responsible for the defaults or misconduct of
GS's clients. Default risk may arise from events or circumstances that are
difficult to detect or foresee.

Concentration of risk increases the potential for significant losses in GSI's
market-making, underwriting, investing and financing activities

Concentration of risk increases the potential for significant losses in market-
making, underwriting, investing and financing activities. The number and size
of these transactions has affected and may in the future affect GSI's results of
operationsin a given period. Moreover, because of concentrated risk, GSI may
suffer losses even when economic and market conditions are generally
favourable for competitors. Disruptions in the credit markets can make it
difficult to hedge these credit exposures effectively or economically.

Inthe ordinary course of business, GSlI is at times subject to a concentration of
credit risk to a particular counterparty, borrower, issuer (including sovereign
issuers), or geographic area or group of related countries, such asthe E.U.,and
a failure or downgrade of, or default by, such entities could negatively impact
GSI's businesses, perhaps materially, and the systems by which GSI sets limits
and monitors the level of its credit exposure to individual entities, industries,
countries and regions may not function as anticipated. Regulatory refomms,
including the European Market Infrastructure Regulation and the Dodd-Frank
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act have led to increased
centralisation of trading activity through particular clearing houses, central
agents or exchanges, which has significantly increased GSl's concentration of
risk with respect to these entities. While GSlI's activities expose it to many
differentindustries, counterparties and countries, GSI routinely executes a high
volume of transactions with counterparties engaged in financial services
activities, including brokers and dealers, commercial banks, clearing houses and
exchanges. This has resulted in significant credit concentration with respect to
these counterparties.

Derivative transactions and delayed documentation or settlementsmay expose
GSl to credit risk, unexpected risks and potential losses

GSl is party to a large number of derivative transactions, including credit
derivatives. Many of these derivative instruments are individually negotiated
and non-standardised, which can makeexiting, transferring or settling positions
difficult. Many credit derivatives require that GSI deliver to the counterparty the
underlying security, loan or other obligation in order to receive payment. In a
number of cases, GSI does not hold the underlying security, loan or other
obligation and may not be able to obtain the underlying security, loan or other
obligation. This could cause GSI to forfeit the payments due under these
contracts orresult in settlement delays with the attendant credit and operational
risk as well as increased costs to GSI.

Derivative transactions also involve the risk that documentation has not been
properly executed, that executed agreements may not beenforceable againstthe
counterparty, or that obligations under such agreements may not be able to be
"netted" against other obligations with such counterparty. In addition,
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counterparties may claim that such transactions were not appropriate or
authorized.

As a signatoryto the International Swaps and Derivatives Association Universal
Resolution Stay Protocol (the "ISDA Universal Protocol™) and the I ntemational
Swaps and Derivatives Association 2018 U.S. Resolution Stay Protocol
(collectively, the "ISDA Protocols™), GSI may not be able to exercise
termination rights and other remedies against counterparties and, as this regime
has not yet been tested, GSI may suffer risks or losses that it would not have
expected to suffer if it could immediately close out transactions upon a
termination event. The ISDA Protocols and these rules and regulations extend to
repurchaseagreements and other instruments that are not derivative contracts.

Derivative contracts and other transactionsentered into with third parties are not
always confirmed by the counterparties or settled on a timely basis. While the
transaction remains unconfirmed or during any delay in settlement, GSI is
subject to heightened credit and operational risk and in the event of a default
may find it more difficult to enforce its rights.

In addition, as new complex derivative products are created, covering a wider
array ofunderlying credit and other instruments, disputes aboutthe terms of the
underlying contracts could arise, which could impair GSI's ability to effectively
manage its risk exposures from these products and subject it to increased costs.
The provisions of legislation requiring central clearing of credit derivatives and
other over-the-counter derivatives, or a market shift toward standardised
derivatives, could reduce the risk associated with these transactions, but under
certain circumstances could also limit GSI's ability to develop derivatives that
best suit the needs of clients and to hedge its own risks, and could adversely
affect GSI's profitability. In addition, these provisions have increased credit
exposure to central clearing platforms.

24  Operational Risks

@)

A failure in GSI's operational systems or human error, malfeasance or other
misconduct, could impair its liquidity, disrupt its businesses, result in the
disclosure of confidential information, damage its reputation and cause losses

GSI's businesses are highly dependent on its ability to process and monitor, on
a daily basis, a very large number of transactions, many of which are highly
complex, and occur at high volumes and frequencies, across numerous and
diverse markets in many currencies. These transactions, as well as the
informationtechnology services provided to clients, often must adhere to client-
specific guidelines, as well as legal and regulatory standards.

Many rules and regulations worldwide govern GSl's obligations to execute
transactions and report such transactions and other information to regulators,
exchanges and investors. Compliance with these legal and reporting
requirements can be challenging, and GSI has been, and may in the future be,
subject to regulatory fines and penalties for failing to follow these rules or to
report timely, accurateand complete information in accordance with these rules.

As the volume, speed, frequency and complexity of transactions, especially
electronic transactions (as well as the requirements to report such transactions
on a real-time basis to clients, regulators and exchanges) increase, developing
and maintaining GSI's operational systemsand infrastructure has become more
challenging, and the risk of systems or human error in connection with such
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transactions has increased, as have the potential consequences of sucherrors due
to the speed and volume of transactions involved and the potential difficulty
associated with discovering errors quickly enough to limit the resulting
consequences. These risks are exacerbated in times of increased volatility.

GSl's financial, accounting, data processing or other operational systems and
facilities have in the past not operated properly in certain respects and may in
the future not operate properly or become disabled asa result of events that are
wholly or partially beyond GSI's control, such as a spike in transaction volume,
adversely affecting GSI's ability to process these transactions or provide these
services. GSI must continuously update these systems to support its operations
and growth and to respond to changes in regulations and markets, and invest
heavily in systemic controls and training to pursue GSl's objective of ensuring
that such transactions do not violate applicable rules and regulations or, due to
errors in processing such transactions, adversely affect markets, GSI's clients
and counterparties or GSI. Enhancements and updates to systems, as well as the
requisite training, including in connection with the integration of new businesses,
entail significant costs and create risks associated with implementing new
systems and integrating them with existing ones.

The use of computingdevices and phonesiis criticalto the work done by GSI's
employees and the operation of GSI's systems and businesses and those of its
clients and third-party service providers and vendors. Their importance has
continued to increase, in particular in light of hybrid work arrangements.
Computers and computer networks are subject to various risks, including, among
others, cyberattacks, inherent technological defects, system failures and human
error. Forexample, fundamental security flaws in computer chips found in many
types of these computing devices and phones have beenreportedin the pastand
may occur in the future. The use of personal devices by GSI'semployees or by
GSlI's vendors forwork-related activities also presents risks related to potential
violations of record retention and other requirements. Cloud technologies are
also criticalto the operation of GSlI's systemsand platformsand GSI's reliance
on cloud technologies is growing. Service disruptions have resulted, and may
result in the future, in delays in accessing, or the loss of, data that is important
to GSl's businesses and may hinder GSl's clients' access to GSl's platforms.
There have been a number of widely publicised cases of outages in connection
with access to cloud computing providers. Addressing these and similar issues
could be costly and affect the performance of these businesses and systems.
Operational risks may be incurred in applying fixes and there may still be
residual security risks.

Notwithstanding the proliferation of technology and technology -based risk and
control systems, GSI's businesses ultimately rely on people as its greatest
resource, and, from time to time, they have in the pastand may in the future
make mistakes or engage in violations of applicable policies, laws, rules or
procedures that are not always caught immediately by GSI's technological
processes or by GSl's controls and other procedures, which are intended to
preventand detect such errorsor violations. These have in the pastand may in
the future include calculation errors, mistakes in addressing emails, errors in
software or model development or implementation, or simple errors in judgment,
as well as intentional efforts to ignore or circumvent applicable policies, laws,
rules or procedures. Humanerrors, malfeasance and other misconduct, including
the intentional misuse of client information in connection with insider trading or
forotherpurposes, even if promptly discovered and remediated, has in the past
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resulted and may in the future result in reputational damage and losses and
liabilities for GSI.

The majority of GSI's employees are based in London and work in close
proximity to one another. They are subject to potential catastrophic events,
including, but not limited to, terrorist attacks, extreme weather, or other hostile
eventsthatcould negatively affect GSI's business. Notwithstanding GSI's efforts
to maintain business continuity, business disruptions impacting GSI's offices and
employees could lead to GSl's employees' inability to occupy the offices,
communicate with or travel to other office locations or work remotely. As a
result, GSl's ability to service and interact with clients may be adversely
impacted, due to GSI's failure or inability to successfully implement business
contingency plans.

A failure or disruption in GSI's infrastructure, or in the operational systems
or infrastructure of third parties, could impair GSI's liquidity, disrupt GSI's
businesses, damage GSI's reputation and cause losses

GSI faces the risk of operational failure or significant operational dely,
termination or capacity constraints of any of the clearing agents, exchanges,
clearing houses or other financial intermediaries that it uses to facilitate
securities and derivatives transactions, and as interconnectivity with clients
grows, GSI will increasingly face the risk of operational failure or significant
operational delay with respect to clients' systems.

There has beensignificantconsolidation among clearingagents, exchanges and
clearinghousesandanincreasing number of derivative transactions are cleared
on exchanges, which has increased GSl's exposure to operational failure or
significant operational delay, termination or capacity constraints of the particular
financial intermediaries that GSI uses and could affect GSI's ability to find
adequate and cost-effective alternatives in the event of any such failure, delay,
termination or constraint. Industry consolidation, whether among market
participants or financial intermediaries, increases the risk of operational failure
or significant operational delay as disparate complex systems need to be
integrated, often on an accelerated basis.

The interconnectivity of multiple financial institutions with central agents,
exchanges and clearing houses, and the increased centrality of these entities,
increases the risk thatan operational failure atone institution or entity maycause
an industry-wide operational failure that could materially impact GSI's ability to
conduct business. Interconnectivity of financial institutions with other
companies through, among other things, application programming interfaces or
APIs presents similar risks. Any such failure, termination or constraint could
adversely affect GSI's ability to effecttransactions, service GSI's clients, manage
GSl's exposure to risk or expand GSl's businesses or result in financial loss or
liability to GSl's clients, impairment of GSI's liquidity, disruption of GSI's
businesses, regulatory intervention or reputational damage.

Despite GSl's resiliency plans andfacilities, its ability to conduct business may
be adversely impacted by a disruption in the infrastructure that supports its
businesses and the communities where GSI is located. This may include a
disruption involvingelectrical, satellite, undersea cable or other communications,
internet, transportation or other facilities used by GSI, its employees or third
parties with which GSI conducts business, including cloud service providers.
These disruptions may occur asaresult of events thataffectonly GSI's buildings
or systems orthose of such third parties, orasa result of events with a broader

13



©

impactglobally, regionally or in the cities where those buildings or systems are
located, including, but not limited to, natural disasters, war, civil unrest,
terrorism, economic or political developments, pandemics and weather events.

In addition, although GSI seeks to diversify its third-party vendors to increase
its resiliency, GSI is also exposed to the risk that a disruption or other
information technology event at a common service provider to GSI's vendors
could impede their ability to provide products or services to GSI, including in
connection with GSI's new business initiatives. GSI may not be able to
effectively monitor or mitigate operational risks relating to its vendors' use of
common service providers.

Additionally, although the prevalence and scope of applications of distributed
ledger technology, cryptocurrency and similar technologies is growing, the
technology is nascent and may be vulnerable to cyber attacks or have other
inherent weaknesses. GSI is exposed to risks, and may become exposed to
additional risks, related to distributed ledger technology, including through GSI's
facilitation of clients' activities involving financial products that use distributed
ledgertechnology, suchas blockchain, or other digitalassets, GSI's investments
in companies that seek to develop platforms based on distributed ledger
technology, the use of distributed ledger technology by third-party vendors,
clients, counterparties, clearing houses and other financial intermediaries, and
the receipt of digitalassets as collateral. Marketvolatility of financial products
using distributed ledger technology may increase these risks.

The development and use of artificial intelligence (Al) presents risks and
challenges that may adversely impact GSI’s business

GSI or GSl's third-party vendors, clients or counterparties may develop or
incorporate Al technology in certain business processes, services or products.
The developmentanduse of Al presenta number of risks and challengesto GSI's
business. The legal and regulatory environment relating to Al is uncertain and
rapidly evolving, and includes regulation targeted specifically at Al as well as
provisions in intellectual property, privacy, consumer protection, employment
and other laws applicable to theuse of Al. Theseevolving laws and regulations
could require changes in GSI's implementation of Al technology and increase
GSl'scompliance costs and the risk of non-compliance. Al models, particulary
generative Al models, may produce output or take action that is incorrect, that
result in the release of private, confidential or proprietary information, that
reflect biases included in the data on which they are trained, infringe on the
intellectual property rights of others, or that is otherwise harmful. In addition,
the complexity of many Al models makes it challenging to understand why they
are generating particular outputs. This limited transparency increases the
challenges associated with assessing the proper operation of Al modek,
understanding and monitoring the capabilities of the Al models, reducing
erroneous output, eliminating bias and complying with regulations that require
documentation orexplanation of the basis on which decisions are made. Further,
GSI mayrely on Al models developed by third parties, and, to thatextent, would
be dependent in partonthe manner in which those third parties develop andtrain
their models, including risks arising from the inclusion of any unauthorized
material in the trainingdata fortheir models, and the effectiveness of the steps
these third parties have takento limit therisks associated with the output of their
models, matters over which GSI may have limited visibility. Any of these risks
could expose GSI to liability or adverse legal or regulatory consequences and
harm GSl's reputation and the public perception of GSl's business or the
effectiveness of GSI’s security measures.
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In additionto GSI’suseof Al technologies, GSI is exposed to risks arising from
the use of Al technologies by bad actors to commit fraud and misappropriate
fundsandtofacilitate cyberattacks. Generative Al, if used to perpetrate fraud or
launch cyberattacks, could result in losses, liquidity outflows or other adverse
effects at a particular financial institution or exchange.

A failure to protect GSI's computer systems, networks and information, and
itsclients'information, againstcyber attacks and similar threats could impair
itsabilitytoconduct its businesses, resultinthe disclosure, theftor destruction
of confidential information, damage its reputation and cause losses

GSl's operations rely on the secure processing, storage and transmission of
confidentialand other information in GSI's computer systemsand networks and
those of GSl's vendors. There have been a number of highly publicised cases
involving financial services companies, consumer-based companies, software
and information technology service providers, governmental agencies and other
organisations reporting the unauthorized access or disclosure of client, customer
or other confidential information in recent years, as well as cyber attacks
involving the dissemination, theft and destruction of corporate information or
other assets, as a result of inadequate procedures or the failure to follow
procedures by employees or contractors oras a result ofactions by third parties,
including actions by foreign governments. There have also been a number of
highly publicised caseswhere hackers have requested "ransom" payments in
exchange for not disclosing customer information or for restoring access to
information or systems.

GSl isregularly the target of attempted cyber attacks, including denial-of-service
attacks, and must continuously monitor and develop its systems to protect the
integrity and functionality of its technology infrastructure and access to and the
security of its data. Further, the use of Al by cybercriminals may increase the
frequency andseverity of cybersecurity attacks against GSI or GSlI's third-party
vendors and clients. The migration of GSI's communication from devices GSI
provides to employee-owned devices presents additional risks of cyber attacks,
as do hybrid work arrangements. In addition, due to the interconnectivity with
third-party vendors (and their respective service providers), central agents,
exchanges, clearing houses and other financial institutions, GSI could be
adversely impacted if any ofthem is subject to a successful cyber attack or other
information security event. These impacts could include the loss of access to
information or services from the third party subject to the cyberattack or other
information security eventor could result in unauthorised accessto or disclosure
of client, customer or other confidential information, which could, in tum,
interrupt certain of GSI's businesses.

Despite GSl's efforts to ensure the integrity of its systems and information, it
may notbe able to anticipate, detect orimplementeffective preventive measures
against allcyberthreats, including because the techniques used are increasingly
sophisticated, change frequently and are often not recognised until launched.
Cyberattacks can originate from a variety of sources, including third parties who
are affiliated with or sponsored by foreign governments or are involved with
organised crime or terrorist organisations. Third parties may also attempt to
place individuals in GSI's office or induce employees, clients or other users of
GSl's systems to disclose sensitive information or provide access to GSI's data
orthat of its clients, and these types of risks may bedifficult to detector prevent.

Although GSI takes protective measures proactively and endeavours to modify
them as circumstances warrant, its computer systems, software and networks
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may be vulnerable to unauthorised access, misuse, computer viruses or other
malicious code, cyberattacks on GSI's vendors and other eventsthat could have
a security impact. Risks relating to cyber attacks on GSlI's vendors have been
increasing given the greater frequency and severity in recent years of supply
chain attacks affecting software and information technology service providers.
Due to the complexityand interconnectedness of GSI's systems, the process of
enhancing protectivemeasurescan itself create a risk of systems disruptions and
security issues. In addition, protective measures that GSI employs to
compartmentalise its data may reduce its visibility into, and adversely affectits
ability to respond to, cyber threats and issues within its systems.

If one ormore of these types of eventsoccur, it potentially could jeopardise GSI

or its clients' or counterparties' or third parties' confidential and other
information processed, stored in or transmitted through GSI's computer systems
and networks, or otherwise cause interruptions or malfunctions in GSl's
operations or those of its clients, its counterparties or third parties, which could
impacttheirability to transact with GSI or otherwise result in legal or regulatory
action, significant losses or reputational damage. Inaddition, such anevent could
persist foranextended period of time before being properly detected or escalated,
and, following detection or escalation, it could take considerable timefor GSI to
obtain full and reliable information about the extent, amount and type of
information compromised. During the course of an investigation, GSI may not
knowthe fullimpact of theeventand howto remediate it, and actions, decisions
and mistakes that are taken or made may further increase the negative effects of
the eventon GSlI's business, results of operations and reputation. Moreover, new
regulations require GSGto disclose information on a timely basis about material
cybersecurity incidents, including those that may nothave beenresolved or fully
investigated at the time of disclosure.

GSI has expended, and expects to continue to expend, significant resources on
an ongoing basis to modify its protective measures and to investigate and
remediate vulnerabilities or other exposures, but these measures may be
ineffective and GSI may be subject to legal or regulatory action, as well as
financial losses that are either not insured against or not fully covered through
any insurance it maintains. Regulatory agencies have become increasingly
focused on cybersecurity incidents.

GSl's confidential information may also be at risk from the compromise of
clients' personalelectronic devicesorasa result of a data security breachatan
unrelated company. Losses due to unauthorised account activity could ham
GSl's reputation and may have adverse effects on its business, financial
condition and results of operations.

The increased use of mobile and cloud technologies heightens these and other
operational risks, as can hybrid work arrangements. Certain a spects of the
security of thesetechnologies are unpredictable or beyond GSl's control, and the
failure by mobile technology and cloud service providers to adequately
safeguard their systems and prevent cyber attacks could disrupt GSl's operations
and result in misappropriation, corruption or loss of confidential and other
information. In addition, there is a risk that encryption and other protective
measures, despite their sophistication, may be defeated, particularly tothe extent
that new computing technologies vastly increasethe speed and computing power
available.

GSI routinely transmits and receives personal, confidential and proprietary
information by emailand other electronic means. GSI has discussed and worked
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with clients, vendors, service providers, counterparties and other third parties to
develop secure transmission capabilities and protect against cyber attacks, but
doesnot have, and may be unable to put in place, secure capabilities with all of
its clients, vendors, service providers, counterparties and other third parties and
it may not be able to ensure that these third parties have appropriate controk in
place to protect the confidentiality of the information. An interception, misuse
ormishandling of personal, confidential or proprietary informationbeingsent to
or received from a client, vendor, service provider, counterparty or other third
party could result in legal liability, regulatory action and reputational harm.

GSI may incur lossesas a resultof ineffective risk management processes and
strategies

GSI seeks to monitor and control its risk exposure through a risk and control
framework encompassing a variety of separate, but complementary financial,
credit, operational, compliance and legal reporting systems, internal controk,
management review processes and other mechanisms. GSI's risk management
process seeks to balance its ability to profit from market-making positions and
underwritingactivitieswith its exposure to potential losses. Whilst GSI employs
a broad and diversified set of risk monitoring and risk mitigation techniques,
those techniques and the judgements that accompany their application cannot
anticipate every economic and financial outcome orthe specifics and timing of
such outcomes. Thus, in the course of its activities, GSI has incurredand may in
the future incur losses. Market conditions in recent years have involved
unprecedented dislocations and highlight the limitations inherent in using
historical data to manage risk.

The models that GSI uses to assess and control its risk exposures reflect
assumptions about the degrees of correlation or lack thereof among prices of
various asset classes or other marketindicators. Intimes of market stress or other
unforeseen circumstances, previously uncorrelated indicators may become
correlated, orconversely previously correlated indicators may move in different
directions. These types of market movements have at times limited the
effectiveness of GSI's hedging strategies and have caused it to incur significant
losses, and they may doso in the future. Thesechangesin correlation have been
and may in the future be exacerbated where other market participants are using
risk or trading models with assumptions or algorithms that are similarto GSI's.
Inthese and other cases, it may bedifficult to reduce GSl's risk positionsdue to
the activity of other market participants or widespread market dislocations,
including circumstances where asset values are declining significantly or no
market exists for certain assets.

In addition, the use of models in connection with risk managementand humerous
othercriticalactivities presents risks that the models may be ineffective, either
because of poor design, ineffectivetestingorimproper or flawed inputs, as well
as unpermitted access to the models resulting in unapproved or malicious
changes to the model or its inputs.

To the extent that GSI has positions through its market-making or origination
activities or it makes investments directly through its investing activities,
including private equity, that donot havean established liquid trading market or
are otherwise subject to restrictions on sale or hedging, GSI may not be able to
reduce its positions and thereforereduce its risk associated with those positions.

Prudent risk management, as well as regulatory restrictions, may cause GSI to
limit its exposure to counterparties, geographic areas or markets, which may
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limit its business opportunities and increase the cost of funding or hedging
activities.

GSI is reliant on GSG and other GS Group affiliates for client business,
various services and capital

GSl is a wholly-owned subsidiary of GSG. Asa wholly-owned subsidiary, GSI
relies on various business relationships of GSG and other GS Group affiliates
generally, including the ability to receive various services, aswellas, in part, the
capital and liquidity of GSI's ultimate parent, GSG, as well as the liquidity of
Goldman Sachs Funding LLC ("Funding IHC"), a wholly-owned, direct
subsidiary of GSG that facilitates the execution of GS Group's prefemed
resolution strategy. Although GSI has takensteps to reduce its reliance on other
GS Group affiliates, it remains an operating subsidiary of a larger organisation
and therefore its interconnectedness within the organisation will continue.
Because GSI's business relies upon GSG and other GS Group affiliates to a
significant extent, risks that could affect these entities could also have a
significant impact on GSI.

Furthermore, GSI relies upon certain GS Group affiliates for various support
services, including, but not limited to, trade execution, relationship management,
settlement and clearing, risk management and other technical, operational and
administrative services. Such services are provided to GSI pursuant to the
intercompany services agreement, which is generally terminable upon mutual
agreement of GSG and its subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions, including
material breach of the agreement.

As a consequence of the foregoing, in the event GSI's relationships with other
GS Group affiliatesare not maintained, forany reason, includingasa result of
possible strategic decisions that GSG may make from time-to-timeorasa result
of material adverse changes in GSG's performance, GSI's net revenues may
decline, the cost of operating and funding its business may increase and GSI's
business, financial condition and profitability may be materially and adversely
affected.

Furthermore, GSI receives a portion of its funding in the form of unsecured
funding indirectly from GSG and from Funding IHC, and collateralised
financings from other GS Group affiliates. To the extent such funding is not
available to GSI, its growth could be constrained and/or its costof funding could
increase.

2.5  Legal and Regulatory Risks

@)

GSlI'sbusinesses and those of its clients are subjectto extensive and pervasive
regulation around the world

As a participant in the financial services industry and a subsidiary of a
systemically important financial institution, GSI is subject to extensive
regulation, principally in the U.K., and the E.U. more generally, but also in the
U.S. asa subsidiary of GSG and in certainother jurisdictions. GSI facesthe risk
of significant intervention by law enforcement, regulatory and tax authorities, as
well as private litigation, in all jurisdictions in which it conducts its businesses.
In many cases, GSl's activities have been and may continue to be subject to
overlapping and divergent regulation in different jurisdictions. Among other
things, as a result of law enforcement authorities, regulators or private parties
challenging GSlI's compliance with laws and regulations, GSI or its employees
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have beenandcould befined, criminally charged or sanctioned, prohibited from
engaging in certain business activities, subjected to limitations or conditions on
its business activities including higher capital requirements, or subjected to new
or substantially higher taxes or other governmental charges in connection with
the conductof its businesses or with respect to itsemployees. These limitations
or conditions may limit business activities and negatively impact GSl's
profitability.

In addition to the impact on the scope and profitability of GSI's business
activities, day-to-day compliance with laws and regulations has involved and
will continue to involve significantamounts of time, including that of GSI's
senior leaders and that of a large number of dedicated compliance and other
reporting and operational personnel, in connection with which we expect to
continue toadd personnel, all of which may negatively impact GSI's profitability.

GSl'srevenues and profitability and those of its competitors have been and will
continue to be impacted by requirements relating to capital, leverage, liquidity
and long-term funding levels, requirements related to resolution and recovery
planning, derivatives clearing and margin rules and levels of regulatory
oversight, aswellas limitations onwhich and, if permitted, how certain business
activities may be carried out by financial institutions. The laws and regulations
thatapply to GSI's businesses are often complex and, in many cases, GSI must
make interpretive decisions regarding the application of those laws and
regulations to its business activities. Changes in interpretations, whether in
response toregulatory guidance, industry conventions, GSI's own reassessments
orotherwise, could adversely affectits businesses, results of operations or ability
to satisfy applicable regulatory requirements, such as capital or liquidity
requirements.

If there are new laws or regulations or changes in the interpretation or
enforcement of existing laws or regulations applicable to GSI, GSI's businesses
orthose of GSl'sclients, including changes to the U.K. capital framework under
the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision’s ("Basel Committee") capital
framework for strengthening internal capital standards ("Basel 111"), including
changes to minimum capital requirements, liquidity, leverage, long-term debt,
margin requirements, restrictions on other business practices, reporting
requirements, the application of regulatory strategies and requirements to
facilitate the orderly resolution of large financial institutions, tax burdens and
compensation restrictions, that are imposed on a limited subset of financial
institutions (whether based onsize, method of funding, activities, geography or
other criteria) which may include GSI or GS Group, compliance with these new
laws and regulations, or changesin the enforcement of existing laws or
regulations, could adversely affect GSI's ability to compete effectively with
other institutions that are not affected in the same way. In addition, regulation
imposed onfinancial institutions or market participants generally, such astaxes
on stock transfers, share repurchases and other financial transactions, could
adversely impact levels of market activity more broadly, and thus impact GSI's
businesses. Changes to lawsand regulations, suchas tax laws, couldako have a
disproportionate impacton GSI, based on the way those laws or regulations are
applied to financial services and financial firms or due to its corporate structure
or how we provide these services.

These developments could impact GSI's profitability in theaffected jurisdictions,
or even make it uneconomic to continue to conduct all or certain businesses in
those jurisdictions, or could result in GSI incurring significant costs associated
with changing business practices, restructuring businesses, movingall or certain
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businesses and employees to other locations or complying with applicable
capital requirements, including liquidatingassets or raising capital in a manner
that adversely increases GSI's funding costs or otherwise adversely affects its
shareholder and creditors.

U.S. and non-U.S. regulatory developments, in particular the Dodd-Frank Act
and Basel 11, have significantly altered the regulatory framework within which
GSG operatesand haveadversely affected and may in the future adverselyaffect
GSG's profitability. Among theaspects of the Dodd-Frank Actthat have affected
ormay in the future affect GSG's businesses are: increased capital, liquidity and
reporting requirements; limitations on activities in which GSG may engage;
increased regulation of and restrictions on OTC derivatives markets and
transactions; limitations on incentive compensation; limitations on affiliate
transactions; requirements to reorganize or limit activities in connection with
recovery and resolution planning; increased deposit insurance assessments; and
increased standards of carefor broker-dealers and investmentadvisers in dealing
with clients.

In July 2023, the U.S. federal bank regulatory authorities proposed a rule
implementing the Basel Committee’s finalisation of the Basel 111 post-crisis
regulatory reforms (the "Basel 111 Revisions™). Among other changes, this rule
includes provisionsthat seta floor on internally modelled capital requirements
at a percentage of the capital requirements under the standardised approach
(known asthe 'outputfloor’). The U.K.'s Prudential Regulatory Authority's (the
"PRA") proposed Basel 11 Revisions exclude U.K. subsidiaries of overseas
banking groups that are subject to the outputfloor ona global consolidated basis
from a standalone outputfloor requirement. As such, GSI does not expect to be
subjectto this requirementon a standalone basis in the U.K., however the impact
of the proposed rules is subject to uncertainty until they are finalised by US.
regulators and the PRA and corresponding legislation is implemented. In
September 2023, the PRA announced a delay in the proposed effective date of
the Basel I11 Revisions by six monthsto July 1,2025and announced that it will
publish near-final policy statements on market risk, credit valuation adjustment
risk, counterparty credit risk and operational risk in the fourth quarter of 2023
and near-final policy statements on credit risk, the output floor, and reporting
and disclosure requirements in the second quarter of 2024. GSl isalso subject to
laws andregulations, such asthe General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR"),
relatingto theprivacy oftheinformation of clients, employees or others, and any
failure to comply with these laws and regulations could expose GSlI to liability
and/or reputational damage. As new privacy-related laws and regulations are
implemented, the time and resources needed for GSI to comply with such laws
and regulations, as well as GSl's potential liability for non-compliance and
reportingobligations in the case of data breaches, may significantly increase.

In addition, GSI's businesses are increasingly subject to laws and regulations
relating to surveillance, encryption and data on-shoring in the jurisdictions in
which GSI operates. Compliance with these laws and regulations may require
GSl to change its policies, procedures and technology for information security,
which could, among other things, make GSI more vulnerable to cyber attacks
and misappropriation, corruption or loss of information or technology.

Increasingly, regulators and courts have sought to hold financial institutions
liable for the misconduct of their clients where they have determined that the
financial institution should have detected that the client was engaged in
wrongdoing, even though the financial institution had no direct knowledge of
the activities engaged in by its client. Regulators and courts have ako
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increasingly found liability as a "control person" for activities of entities in
which financialinstitutions or funds controlled by financial institutionshavean
investment, but which they do not actively manage. In addition, requlators and
courts continue to seek to establish "fiduciary" obligations to counterparties to
which no such duty had been thought to exist. To theextent that such efforts are
successful, the cost of, and liabilities associated with, engaging in brokerage,
clearing, market-making, prime financing, investingand other similaractivities
could increase significantly. To the extent that GSI has fiduciary obligations in
connection with acting as a financial advisor or investment advisor or in other
roles for individual, institutional, sovereign or investment fund clients, any
breach, or even an alleged breach, of such obligations could have materially
negative legal, regulatory and reputational consequences.

Further, we are subject to regulatory settlements, orders and feedback that
require significant remediationactivities, which require us to commit significant
resources, including hiring, as well as testing the operationand effectiveness of
new controls, policies and procedures.

A failure to appropriately identify and address potential conflicts of interest
could adversely affect GSI's businesses

Due to the broad scope of GS Group's businesses and clientbase, GSI regulary
addresses potential conflicts of interest, including situations where services to a
particularclientor GS Group's own investments or other interests conflict, or are
perceived to conflict, with the interests of that clientoranother client, as well as
situations where one or more of its businesses have access to material non-public
informationthatmay not be shared with other businesses within GS Group and
situations where it may be a creditor of an entity with which GS Group alo has
an advisory or other relationship.

Extensive proceduresandcontrols are in place that are designedto identify and
address conflicts of interest, including those designed to prevent the improper
sharing of information among businesses. However, appropriately identifying
and dealing with conflicts of interest is complex and difficult, and GSI's
reputation, which is one of its most important assets, could be damaged and the
willingness of clients to enter into transactions with GSI may be adversely
affected if it fails, or appears to fail, to identify, disclose and deal appropriately
with conflicts of interest. Inaddition, potential or perceived conflicts could give
rise to litigation or regulatory enforcement actions. Additionally, GS Group's
One Goldman Sachs initiative aims to increase collaboration amongst its
businesses, which may increasethe potential for actual or perceived conflicts of
interest and improper information sharing. The realignment of GS Group's
businesses and segments presents similar risks.

Substantial civil or criminal liability or significant regulatory action against
GSI could have material adverse financial effects, or cause it significant
reputational harm, which inturn couldseriously harm its business prospects

GSI facessignificantlegalrisks in its businesses, and the volume of claims and
amount of damages and penalties claimed in litigation and regulatory
proceedings against financial institutions remain high. GSI is, from time to time,
subjectto a number of other investigations and reviews by, and in some cases
has received requests for documents and information from, various
governmentaland regulatory bodies and self-regulatory organisations relating to
various aspects of GSI's businessesand operations. GSI has seen legal claims by
clients increase in a market downturn and employment-related claims increase
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following periods of headcount reduction. Additionally, governmental entities
have been plaintiffsandare parties in certain of GSI's legal proceedings, and it
may face future civil or criminal actions or claims by the same or other
governmental entities, as well as follow-on civil litigation that is often
commenced after regulatory settlements.

Significant settlements by large financial institutions with governmental entities
have become common. Thetrend of large settlements with governmental entities
may adversely affect the outcomes for other financial institutions, including, in
some cases, GSI, or GS Group, in similar actions, especially where
governmental officials have announcedthatthe large settlementswill be used as
the basis or a template for other settlements. The uncertain regulatory
enforcement environment makes it difficult to estimate probable losses, which
can lead to substantial disparities between legal reserves and subsequentactual
settlements or penalties.

GSI is subject to laws and regulations worldwide, including the U.S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Bribery Act, relating to corruptand illegal
payments to, and hiring practices with regard to, government officials and others.
Violation ofthese or similar laws and regulations have in the pastresulted in and
could in the futureresult in significant monetary penalties. Such violations could
also result in severe restrictions on GSI's activities and damage to its reputation.

Resolution of a criminal matter involving GSI or its employees could lead to
increased exposure to civil litigation, could adversely affect GSI's reputation,
could result in penalties or limitations on GSI's ability to conduct its activities
generally orin certain circumstances and could have other negative effects.

In conducting its business around the world, GSI is subject to political, legal,
regulatory and other risks thatare inherent in operating in many countries

In conducting GSI's businesses and supporting its global operations, GSI is
subject to risks of possible nationalisation, expropriation, price controls, capital
controls, exchange controls, communications and other content restrictions and
other restrictive governmental actions, as well as the outbreak of hostilities or
actsof terrorism. For example, sanctions have beenimposed by the U.S. and the
E.U. on certain individuals and companies in Russia and Venezuela. In many
countries, the laws and regulations applicable to the securities and financial
services industries and many of the transactions in which GSI is involved are
uncertain and evolving, and it may be difficult to determine the exact
requirements of local laws in every market. GSI has been in some cases subject
to divergent and conflicting laws and regulations across markets, and is
increasingly subject to the risk that the jurisdictions in which it operates have
implemented or may implement laws and regulations that directly conflict with
those of another jurisdiction. Any determination by local regulators that GSI has
notacted in compliance with the application of local laws in a particular market
ora failureto develop effective working relationships with local regulators could
haveasignificant and negative effect not only on GSlI's businesses in thatmarket,
but also on its reputation generally. Further, in some jurisdictions a failure, or
alleged failure, to comply with laws and regulations have subjected and may in
the future subject GSlandits personnel notonly to civilactions butalso criminal
actions and other sanctions. GSI is also subject to the enhanced risk that
transactions it structures might not be legally enforceable in all cases.

While business and other practices throughout the world differ, GSI is subject in
its operations worldwide to rules and regulations relating to corrupt and illegal
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payments, hiring practices and money laundering, as well as laws relating to
doing business with certain individuals, groups and countries, such asthe U.S.
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act, asamended, and the
U.K. Bribery Act. While GSI has invested and continues to invest significant
resources in training and in compliance monitoring, the geographical diversity
of its operations, employees, and clients, aswell asthe vendors and other third
parties that GSI deals with, greatly increases the risk that GSI may be found in
violation of such rules orregulations andany such violation could subject it to
significant penalties or adversely affect its reputation.

In addition, there have beena number of highly publicised cases around the
world, involving actual or alleged fraud or other misconduct by employees in
the financial services industry in recent years,and GSI has had, and may in the
future have, employee misconduct. This misconduct has included and may ako
in the future include intentional efforts to ignore or circumvent applicable
policies, rules or procedures or misappropriation of funds and the theft of
proprietary information, including proprietary software. It is notalways possible
to deter or prevent employee misconduct and the precautions taken to prevent
and detect this activity have not been and may not be effective in all cases, as
reflected by the settlements relating to 1Malaysia Development Berhad
("1MDB").

The application of regulatory strategies and requirements to facilitate the
orderly resolution of large financial institutions could create greater risk of
loss for GSI's security holders

The circumstances in which a resolution authority would exercise its "bail-in"
powers to recapitalise a failing entity by writing down its unsecured debt or
convertingit into equity are uncertain. I f these powers were to be exercised (or
if there was a suggestion that they could be exercised) in respect of GSlI, such
exercise would likely have a material adverse effect on the value of debt
investmentsin GSI, includinga potential loss of someorall of such investments.

The EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive ("BRRD"") entered into force
on 2 July 2014. EU member states were required to adoptand publish the laws,
regulationsandadministrative provisions necessary to comply with the BRRD.
Its stated aim is to provide national "resolution authorities™ with powers and
tools to address banking crises pre-emptively in order to safeguard financial
stability and minimise taxpayers' exposure to losses.

The majority of the requirements of the BRRD have been implemented in the
UK through the UK Banking Act 2009, as amended, and related statutory
instruments (together, the "UK Banking Act"). The UK Banking Act provides
fora "resolution regime™ granting substantial powers to the Bank of England (or,
in certain circumstances, HM Treasury), to implement resolution measures (in
consultation with other UK authorities) with respectto a UK financial institution
(such as GSI) where the resolution authority considers that the relevant
institution is failing or is likely to fail, there is no reasonable prospect of other
measures preventing the failure of the institution and resolution action is
necessary in the public interest.

The resolution powers available to the resolution authority include powers to:
write down the amount owing, including to zero, or convert the relevant
securities into other securities, including ordinary shares of the relevant
institution (or a subsidiary) — the so-called "bail-in" tool; transfer all or part of
the business of the relevant institution to a "bridge bank"; transfer impaired or
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problem assetsto an asset managementvehicle; and sellthe relevant institution
to a commercial purchaser.

In addition, the resolution authority is empowered to modify contractual
arrangements, suspend enforcement or termination rights that might otherwise
be triggered and disapply or modify laws in the UK (with possible retrospective
effect) to enable the recovery and resolution powers under the UK Banking Act
to be used effectively.

You should assume that, in a resolution situation, financial public support will
only be available to GSI (orany member of Goldman Sachs) as a last resort after
the relevant resolution authorities have assessed and used, to the maximum
extent practicable, the resolution tools, including the bail-in tool.

In the event that GSI, or any of its affiliates, becomes subject to a proceeding
under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act or Title Il of the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (together, the "U.S. Special
Resolution Regimes"), default rights against GSI in relation to the Instruments
or (if applicable) to the relevant Guarantee given by GSI (as Guarantor) in
relation to any Instruments issued by GSW, are permitted to be exercised tono
greater extent than such default rights could be exercised under such U.S. Special
Resolution Regime if the Instruments were governed by the laws of the United
States or a state of the United States.

You should be aware thatthe exercise of any such resolution power oreven the
suggestion of any such potential exercise in respect of GSI (or any member of
Goldman Sachs) could have a material adverse effect on the rights of holders of
Securities and (if applicable) the relevant Guarantee given by GSI (as Guarantor),
and could lead to aloss of some orall of the investment. The resolution regime
is designed to be triggered prior to insolvency of the relevant institution, and

holders of securities issued by such institution may not be able to anticipate the
exercise of any resolution power (including exercise of the "bail-in" tool) by the
resolution authority. Further, holders of securities issued by an institution which

hasbeentaken into a resolution regime will havevery limited rights to challenge
the exercise of powers by the resolution authority, even where such powers have
resulted in the write down of the securities or conversion of the securities to

equity.

Acknowledgement of bail-in power in respect of Swiss Securities issued by
GSI: if you purchase Swiss Securities issued by GSI, you shall be deemed to
have agreed to be bound by the exercise of any UK Bail-In Power by the
Relevant UK Resolution Authority. See General Instrument Condition 7
(Contractual acknowledgement of bail-in in respect of Swiss Securities issued
by GSI) and General Note Condition 7 (Contractual acknowledgement of bail-
in in respect of Swiss Securities issued by GSI).

Acknowledgement of bail-in power in respect of French Law Instruments
and French Law Notes issued by GSI: if you purchase French Law Instruments
or French Law Notesissued by GSI, you shallbe deemed to have agreed to be
boundby theexercise of any UK Bail-1n Power by the Relevant UK Resolution
Authority. See General Instrument Condition 8 (Contractual acknowledgment
of bail-in inrespect of French Law Instruments issued by GS1) and General Note
Condition 8 (Contractual acknowledgment of bail-in in respect of French Law
Notes issued by GSI).
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Acknowledgement of bail-in power in respect of Italian Law Instruments
and Italian Law Notes issued by GSI: if you purchase Italian Law Instruments
or Italian Law Notes issued by GSI, you shall be deemed to have agreed to be
boundby theexercise of any UK Bail-1n Power by the Relevant UK Resolution
Authority. See General Instrument Condition 9 (Contractual acknowledgment
of bail-inin respectof Italian Law Instruments issued by GS1) and General Note
Condition 9 (Contractual acknowledgment of bail-inin respect of Italian Law
Notes issued by GSI).

GSI's commodities activities, particularly GSI's physical commaodities
activities, subject GSI to extensive regulation and involve certain potential
risks, including environmental, reputational and other risks that may expose
GSl to significant liabilities and costs

As part of GSI's commodities business, GSI purchases and sells certain physical
commodities, arranges for their storage and transport, and engages in market
making of commodities. The commodities involved in these activities may
include crudeoil, refined oil products, natural gas, liquefied natural gas, electric
power, agricultural products, metals (base and precious), minerals (including
unenriched uranium), emission credits, coal, freight and related products and
indices.

GSI makes investments in and finances entities that engage in the production,
storage and transportation of numerous commodities, including many of the
commodities referenced above. These activities subject GSI and/or the entities
in which GSI invests to extensive and evolving national, regional and local
energy, environmental, antitrust and other governmental laws and regulations
worldwide, including environmental laws and regulations relating to, among
others, air quality, water quality, waste management, transportation ofhazardous
substances, natural resources, site remediation and health and safety.
Additionally, rising climate change concerns have led to additional regulation,
regulatory scrutiny and disclosure obligationsthat have increased and could
further increase the operating costs and could adversely affect the profitability
of certain of our investments and activities.

There may be substantial costs in complying with current or future laws and
regulations relating to GSl's commodities- related activities and investments.
Compliance with these laws and regulations could requires significant
commitments of capital toward environmental monitoring, renovation of storage
facilities or transport vessels, payment of emission fees and carbon or other taxes,
and application for, and holding of, permits and licenses.

Commodities involved in GSI's intermediation activities and investments are
also subject to the risk of unforeseen or catastrophic events, which are likely to
be outside of GSI's control, including those arising from the breakdown or failure
of transport vessels, storage facilities or other equipment or processes or other
mechanical malfunctions, fires, leaks, spills or release of hazardous substances,
performance below expected levels of output or efficiency, terrorist attacks,
extremeweather events or other natural disasters or other hostile or catastrophic
events. Inaddition, GSI relies on third-party suppliers or service providers to
perform GSl's contractual obligations and any failure ontheir part, including the
failure to obtain raw materials atreasonable prices or to safely transport or store
commodities, could expose GSI to costs or losses. Also, while GSI seeks to
insure against potential risks, GSI does not have insurance to cover some of these
risks and theinsurancethat GSI has may be inadequate to cover our losses.
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The occurrence of any of such events may prevent GSI from performing under
its agreements with clients, may impair GSI's operationsor financial results and
may result in litigation, regulatory action, negative publicity or other
reputational harm.

GSI has made changes to and may also be required to divest or discontinue
certain of these activities forregulatory orlegalreasonsordue to the transition
to a less carbon- dependent economy in response to climate change.

2.6 Competition Risks

@)

(b)

GSlI's results have been and may in the future be adversely affected by the
composition of its client base

GSlI'sclient base is notthe same asthat of its major competitors. GSI's businesses
may have a higher or lower percentage of clients in certain industries or markets
than some or all of its competitors. Therefore, unfavourable industry
developments or market conditions affecting certain industries or markets have
resulted in the past and may result in the future in GSI's businesses
underperforming relative to similar businesses of a competitor if its businesses
have a higher concentration of clients in such industries or markets. For example,
GSl's market-making businesses has a higher percentage of clients with actively
managed assets than some of its competitors and such clients have in the past
been andmay in the future be disproportionately affected by low volatility.

Correspondingly, favourable or simply less adverse developments or market
conditions involving industries or markets in a business where GSI has a lower
concentrationof clients in such industry or market havealso resulted in the past
and may result in the future in GSI underperforming relativetoa similar business
of a competitor that has a higher concentration of clients in such industry or
market. For example, GSI has a smaller corporate client base in its market-
making businesses than some of its peers and therefore GSI's competitors may
benefit more from increased activity by corporate clients. Similarly, GSI has not
historically engaged in retail equities intermediation to the same extent asother
financial institutions, which has in the past affected and could in the future
adversely affect its market share in equities execution.

The financial services industry is highly competitive

The financial services industry and all of GSl's businesses are intensely
competitive, and GSI expects them to remain so. GSI competes onthe basis of a
number of factors, including transaction execution, our products and services,
innovation, reputation, creditworthiness and price. There has been substantial
consolidation and convergence among companies in the financial services
industry. This has hastened the globalization of the securities and other financial
services markets. As a result, GSI has had to commit capital to support its
international operations and to execute large global transactions. To the extent
GSI expands into new business areas and new geographic regions, it will face
competitors with more experience and more established relationships with
clients, regulators and industry participants in the relevantmarket, which could
adversely affect its ability to expand.

Governments and regulators have adopted regulations, imposed taxes, adopted
compensation restrictions or otherwise put forward various proposals that have
impacted or may impact GSl's ability to conduct certain of its businesses in a
cost-effective manneroratallin certain orall jurisdictions, including proposak
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relatingto restrictions on the type of activities in which financial institutions are
permittedtoengage. Theseorothersimilarrules, many of whichdonotapply to
all GSI's competitors, could impact its ability to compete effectively.

Pricing and other competitive pressures in GSI's businesses have continued to
increase, particularly in situations wheresome competitors may seek to increase
market share by reducing prices. For example, in connection with investment
banking and other engagements, in response to competitive pressure GSI has
experienced, GSI has extended and priced credit at levels thatin some cases have
not fully compensated it for the risks it has undertaken.

The financial services industry is highly interrelated in that a significant volume
of transactions occuramonga limited number of members of thatindustry. Many
transactions are syndicated to other financial institutions and financial
institutions are often counterparties in transactions. This has led to claims by
other market participants and regulators that such institutions have colluded in
order to manipulate markets or marketprices, including allegations that antitrust
laws have been violated. While GSI has extensive procedures and controls that
are designed to identify and prevent such activities, they may not be effective.
Allegations of such activities, particularly by regulators, can have a negative
reputational impactand can subject GSI to large fines and settlements, and
potentially significant penalties, including treble damages.

The growth of electronic trading and the introduction of new products and
technologies, including trading and distributed ledger technologies, including
cryptocurrencies, has increased competition

Technology is fundamental to GSI's business and industry. The growth of
electronic trading and the introduction of new technologies is changing GSI's
businesses and presenting GSI with new challenges. Securities, futures and
options transactions are increasingly occurring electronically, bothon GSI's own
systems and through other alternative trading systems, and it appears that the
trend toward alternative trading systems will continue. Some of these altemative
trading systems compete with GSI, particularly GSI's exchange-based market-
making activities, and GSI may experience continued competitive pressures in
these andotherareas. In addition, the increased use by GSl's clients of low-cost
electronic trading systems and direct electronic access to trading markets has
causedand could continueto causea reduction in commissions and spreads. As
GSlI'sclientsincreasingly use GSI's systems to trade directly in the markets, GSI
may incur liabilitiesas a result of their use of GSI's order routingand execution
infrastructure.

GSI has invested significant resources into the development of electronic trading
systems and expect to continue to do so, but there is no assurance that the
revenues generated by these systems will yield an adequate return, particulary
given the generally lower commissions arising from electronic trades.

In addition, the emergence, adoption and evolution of new technologies,
includingdistributed ledgers, such as digital assets and blockchain, and Al, have
required GSI to invest resources to adapt its existing products and services, and
GSl expects to continueto make such investments, which could be material. The
adoption and evolution of such new technologies may also increase GSI’s
compliance and regulatory costs. Further, technologies, such as those based on
distributed ledgers, that do not require intermediation could also significantly
disrupt paymentsprocessingand other financial services. Regulatory limitations
on GSI’s involvement in products and platforms involving digital assets and
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distributed ledger technologies may notapply equally orin some casesat allto
certain of GSlI's competitors. GSI may not be as timely or successful in
developingor integrating, orevenable to develop or integrate, new products and
technologies, such asthose built on distributed ledgers or Al technologies, into
GSl's existing products and services, adapting to changes in client preferences
or achieving market acceptance of GSl's products and services, any of which
could affect GSI's ability to attract or retain clients, cause GSI to lose market
share or result in service disruptions and in turn reduce GSl's revenues or
otherwise adversely affect GSI.

GSlI's businesses would be adversely affected ifit isunable to hire and retain
qualified employees

GSlI's performance is largely dependent on the talents and efforts of highly
skilled people; therefore, GSI's continued abhility to compete effectively in its
businesses, to manage its businesses effectively and to expand into new
businesses and geographic areas depends on its ability to attract new talented
and diverse employees and to retain and motivate existing employees. Factors
thataffect GSlI's ability toattractand retain such employees include the level and
composition of compensation and benefits, and a reputation as a successful
business with a culture of fairly hiring, training and promoting qualified
employees. As a significant portion of the compensation that GSI pays to its
employeesis paid in the form of year-end discretionary compensation, a
significant portion of which is in the form of deferred equity-related awards,
declines in the GS Group's profitability, or in the outlook for its future
profitability, as wellas regulatory limitations on compensation levelsand terms,
can negatively impact GSI's ability to hire and retain highly qualified employees.

Competition from within the financial services industry and from businesses
outside the financial services industry, including the technology industry, for
qualified employees has often been intense. GSI has experienced increased
competition in hiring and retaining employees to address the demands of new
regulatory requirementsand GSI's technology initiatives. Thisisalso the case in
emerging and growth markets, where GSI is often competing for qualified
employees with entities that have a significantly greater presence or more
extensive experience in the region.

Laws or regulations in jurisdictions in which GSI's operations are located that
affect taxes on GSl's employees income or the amount or composition of
compensation, or that require GSI to disclose its competitors' compensation
practices may also adversely affect GSI's ability to hire and retain qualified
employees in those jurisdictions.

GSl'scompensation practices are subject to review by, and the standards of, the
Prudential Regulation Authority ("PRA")and the Financial Conduct Authority
("FCA™). As a large financial institution, GSI is subject to limitations on
compensation practices (whichmay or may not affect the companies with which
GSI competes for talent) by the PRA and the FCA and other regulators
worldwide. These limitations have shaped GSI's compensation practices, which
has in some casesadversely affected GSI's ability to attract and retain talented
employees, in particular in relationto companiesnotsubjectto these limitations,
and future legislation or regulation may have similar adverse effects.
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Market Developments and General Business Environment Risks

@)
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GSl'sbusinesses, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations have
been and may in the future be adversely affected by unforeseen or
catastrophic events, including pandemics, terrorist attacks, wars, extreme
weather events or other natural disasters

The occurrence of unforeseen or catastrophic events, including pandemics or
other widespread health emergencies (or concerns over the possibility of such
an emergency), terrorist attacks, wars, extreme weather events, solar events or
other natural disasters, could adversely affect GSI's business, financial condition,
liquidity and results of operations. These events could have such effects through
economic or financial market disruptions or challenging economic or market
conditions more generally, the deterioration of GSI's creditworthiness or that of
GSl's counterparties, changes in consumer sentiment and consumer borrowing,
spending and savings patterns, liquidity stress, or operational difficulties (such
as travel limitations and limitations on occupancy in GSI's offices) that impair
GSI's ability to manage GSI's businesses.

Climate change could disrupt GS Group's businesses and adversely affect
client activity levels and the creditworthiness of GSI's clients and
counterparties, and GSI's actual or perceived action or inaction relating to
climate change could result in damage to GSI's reputation

Climate change may cause extreme weather events that disrupt operations one
or more of our or GS Group's primary locations, which may negatively affect
GSl'sability to service and interactwith GSI's clients, adversely affectthe value
of GSl'sinvestments, and reduce the availability or increase the cost of insurance.
Climate change andthe transitionto a less carbon-dependenteconomy may ako
have a negative impact on the operations or financial condition of GSI's clients
and counterparties, which may decrease revenues from those clients and

counterparties and increase the risk and other exposures to those clients and
counterparties. In addition, climate change may impact the broader economy.

GSl is also exposed to risks resulting from changes in public policy, laws and
regulations, or market and public perceptions and preferences in connection with
the transitionto a less carbon-dependent economy. These changes could
adversely affect GSI's business, results of operations and reputation. For
example, GSl's reputation and client relationships may be damaged as a result
of GSI'sor GSl'sclients'involvementin, or decisionnotto participatein, certain
industries or projects perceived to be associated with causing or exacerbating
climate change, as well as any decisions we make to continue to conduct or
change GSl'sactivities in response to considerations relating to climate change.
If GS Group isunable to achieve its objectives relatingto climate change or GS
Group's response to climate change is perceived to be ineffective, insufficientor
otherwise inappropriate, GSI's business, reputation and efforts to recruit and
retain employees may suffer.

New regulations or guidance relating to climate change, as well as the
perspectives of government officials, regulators, employees and other
stakeholders regarding climate change, may affect whether and on what terms
and conditions GSI engages in certain activities or offer certain products.
Banking regulators and supervisory authorities, shareholders and other
stakeholders have increasingly viewed financial institutions as playing an
important role in helping to address risks related to climate change, both directly
and with respect to their clients, which may result in financial institutions
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comingunder increased requirements and expectations regarding the disclosure
and management of their climate risks and related lending, investment and
advisoryactivities. In the E.U., the CSRD will become effective beginning with
year-end 2024 reporting. The CSRD expands the scope of ESG disclosure
required under E.U. rules. These regulations, guidanceand expectations, as well
as any additional or heightened requirements, could result in increased
regulatory, compliance or other costs or higher capital requirements. The risks
associated with, and the perspective of regulators, employees and other
stakeholders regarding, climate change are continuing to evolve rapidly, which
can make it difficult to assess the ultimate impact on GSI of climate change-
related risks and uncertainties, but GSI expects that climate change -related risks
will increase over time.

GSlI's business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations have
been adversely affected by disruptions in the global economy caused by
conflicts, and related sanctions and other developments

The conflict between Russia and Ukraine has negatively affected the global
economy. Governments around the world have responded to Russia's invasion
by imposing economic sanctions and exportcontrols on certain industry sectors,
including price caps on Russian oil, and on Russian businesses and persons.
Compliance with economic sanctions and restrictions imposed by govemments
has increased GSI's costs and otherwise adversely affected GSl's business and
may continue to do so. Russia has responded with its own restrictions against
investors and countries outside Russia and has proposed additional measures
aimed atnon-Russian owned businesses. Businesses globally have experienced
shortages in materials and increased costs for transportation, energy, and raw
materials duein part tothe negative effects of the conflict on the global economy.

The conflictsin the Middle East could also affect and harm GSI's business and
increase marketuncertainty. The impact of these conflicts on GSI's business and
operations is uncertain and therefore cannot be predicted.

The escalation or continuation of these conflicts or other hostilities could result
in, among other things, further increased risk of cyber attacks, an increased
frequency and volume of failures to settle securities transactions, supply chain
disruptions, higher inflation, lower consumer demandand increased volatility in
commodity, currency and other financial markets.

The extent and duration of the conflicts, sanctions and resulting market
disruptions are impossible to predict, and the consequences for GSI's business
could be significant. If international political instability and geopolitical tensions
continue or increase in any region in which GSI does business, GSI's business
and results of operations could be harmed.

GSI may be adversely affected by negative publicity

The financial services industry generally and GSl's businesses in particular have
been subject to negative publicity. GSI's reputation and businesses may be
adversely affected by negative publicity or information regarding its business
and personnel, whether or not accurate or true, that may be posted on social
media orotherinternet forums or published by news organisations. Postings on
these types of forums may also adversely impact risk positions of GSI's clients
and other parties that owe it money, securities or other assets and increase the
chance that they will not perform their obligation to the firm or reduce the
revenuesreceived from their use of GSI's services. The speed and pervasiveness
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with which information can be disseminated through these channels, in
particular social media, may magnify risks relating to negative publicity.

Certain of GSI's businesses and its funding instruments may be adversely
affected by changes in reference rates, currencies, indices, baskets or
exchange-traded funds (""ETFs'") to which products GSI offers or funding
that GSI raises are linked

Many of the products that GSI owns or that it offers, such as structured notes,
warrants, swaps or security-based swaps, pay interestor determine the principal
amount to be paid at maturity or in the event of default by reference to ratesor
by reference to an index, currency, basket, ETF or other financial metric (the
underlier). In the event that the composition of the underlier is significantly
changed, by reference to rules governing such underlier or otherwise, the
underlier ceases toexist (for example, in theevent thata country withdraws from
the Euro orlinks its currencyto or delinksits currency from another currency or
benchmark, an index or ETF sponsor materially alters the composition of an
index orETF, or stocksin a basket are delisted or become impermissible to be
included in the index or ETF), the underlier ceases to be recognised as an
acceptable market benchmark or there are legal or regulatory constraints on
linking a financial instrument to the underlier, GSI may experience adverse
effects.

GSlI'sbusiness, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations may be
adversely affected by disruptions in the globaleconomy caused by escalating
tensions between the U.S. and China

Continued or escalating tensions between the U.S. and China have resulted in
and mayresult in additional changes to U.S. international trade and investment
policies, which could disrupt international trade and investment, adverselyaffect
financial markets, including market activity levels, and adversely impact GSI's
revenues. Continued or escalating tensions may also lead to the U.S., China or
other countries taking otheractions, which could include theimplementation of
sanctions, tariffs or foreign exchange measures, the largescale sale of U.S.
Treasury securities or restrictions on cross border trade, investment or transfer
of information or technology. Any such developments could adversely affect
GSI's or GSI's clients'businesses, aswellas GSI's financial condition, liquidity
and results of operations, possibly materially.

A conflict, orconcerns about a potential conflict, involving China and Tawan,
the U.S. or other countries could negatively impact financial marketsand GSI's
or GSl's clients' businesses. Trade restrictions by the U.S. or other countries in
response to a conflict or potential conflict involving China, including financial
and economic sanctions and export controls against certain organisations or
individuals, or actions taken by China in response to trade restrictions, could
negatively impact GSI's or GSl's clients' ability to conduct business in certain
countries or with certain counterparties and could negatively impact regional and
global financial markets and economic conditions. Any of the foregoing could
adversely affect GSI's business, financial condition, liquidity and results of
operations, possibly materially.

GSI facesenhancedrisks as GSG operates in new locations, and the company
transacts with a broader array of clients and counterparties

GSl'sbusinesses, have in thepast,and may in the future, bring GSI into contact,
directly or indirectly, with individuals and entities thatare not within GSI's
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traditional client and counterparty base, expose GSI to new asset classes andnew
markets, and present GSI with integration challenges. For example, GSI
continues to transact business and invest in new regions, including a wide range
of emerging and growth markets, and GSI expects this trend to continue. Various
emerging and growth market countries have experienced severe economic and
financial disruptions, including significant devaluations of their currencies,
defaults or threatened defaults on sovereign debt, capital and currency exchange
controls, and low or negative growth rates in their economies. The possible
effects of any of these conditions includeanadverseimpacton GSI's businesses
and increased volatility in financial markets generally.

New business initiatives expose GSI to new andenhanced risks, including risks
associated with dealing with governmental entities, reputational concerns arising
from dealing with different types of clients, business partners, counterparties and
investors, greater regulatory scrutiny of these activities, increased credit-related,
market, sovereign and operational risks, risks arising from accidents or acts of
terrorism, and reputational concerns with the manner in which certain assets are
being operated or held or in which GSI interacts with these clients, business
partners, counterparties and investors. Legal, regulatory and reputational risks
may also exist in connection with activities and transactions involving new
products or markets where there is regulatory uncertainty or where there are
differentor conflicting regulationsdepending on the regulator or the jurisdiction
involved, particularly where transactions in such products may involve multiple
jurisdictions."; and

inserting the following new risk factorimmediately after risk factor 5.4(d) (The occurrence of an
index adjustment event or the replacement of the index sponsor by a successor index sponsor
may have a negative effect onyour Securities) on pages 78 to 79 of the Base Prospectus (and all
subsequent sub-paragraphs shall be re-named accordingly):

The occurrence of an index calculation agent cessation event may have a negative effect on
your Securities

If "Index Calculation Agent Cessation Event™ is specified as applicable in the relevant Issue
Termsand the Index Calculation Agent is not able to calculateand/orannounce the Indexoris
replaced by a successor index calculation agent, we (as Calculation Agent) may replace the
Index with another index (or basket of indices) and adjust the terms and conditions of the
Securities (without your consent). Any suchaction may havea negative effect on the valueand
return on the Securities.

If we believe that (i) it would be unlawful or would contravene any applicable licensing
requirements for the Calculation Agentto perform the proposed actionabove or (i) the proposed
action above would not achievea commercially reasonable result, we may redeem the Securities
early. In such event, we will pay to you the non-scheduled early repayment amount. The non-
scheduledearly repayment amountmay be less thanyour original investment and you may lose
some or all of your money.

If an Index is calculated by a successor index calculation agent, or is replaced by a successor
index, the successor index, orindex as calculated by the successor index calculation agent, will
be deemedto be the Index if approvedby us (as Calculation Agent). Any such successor index
may perform poorly and may result in holders of Securities receiving less than they otherwise
expected.”.

32



Amendments to the section entitled ""Documents Incorporated by Reference"

The information in the section entitled "Documents Incorporated by Reference" is amended and
supplemented by:

@) deleting sub-section 1 entitled "Goldman Sachs Intemational” on pages 161 to 162 of the Base
Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

"1. Goldman Sachs International

GSI files documents and information with the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur
Financier (the"CSSF"). The following documents, which GSI has filed with the CSSF, are
hereby incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus:

@) The Annual Report forthe period ended 31 December 2023 of GSI ("GSI's 2023
Annual Report"”), containing, in Part 11, the Directors' Report and Audited
Financial Statements of GSI for the period ended 31 December 2023 ("GSlI's 2023
Financial Statements™) (accessible on https:/Avww.goldmansachs.com/investor-
relations/financials/subsidiary-financial-info/gsi/2023/12-31-23-financial-

statements.pdf);

() The Unaudited Quarterly Financial Report of GSI for the period ended 30
September 2023 (*GSI's 2023 Third Quarter Financial Report™), containing, in
Part I, the Unaudited Financial Statements of GSI for the period ended 30
September 2023 ("GSI's2023 Third Quarter Financial Statements") (accessible
on https:/Aww.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/financials/subsidiary-
financial-info/gsi/2023/09-30-23-financial-information.pdf);

(© The Unaudited Quarterly Financial Report of GSI for the period ended 30 June
2023 ("GSlI's 2023 Second Quarter Financial Report"), containing, in Part Il,
the Unaudited Financial Statements of GSI for the period ended 30 June 2023
("GSI's 2023 Second Quarter Financial Statements”) (accessibke on
https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/financials/subsidiary-
financial-info/gsi/2023/06-30-23-financial-statements.pdf);

@ The Unaudited Quarterly Financial Report of GSI forthe period ended 31 March
2023 ("GSl's2023 First Quarter Financial Report"), containing, in Part 11, the
Unaudited Financial Statements of GSI for the period ended 31 March 2023
("GSlI's 2023 First Quarter Financial Statements") (accessible on
https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/financials/subsidiary-
financial-info/gsi/2023/03-31-23-financial-information.pdf);

(e) The Annual Report for the period ended 31 December 2022 of GSI ("GSl's 2022
Annual Report™), containing, in Part 11, the Directors' Report and Audited Financial
Statements of GSI for the period ended 31 December 2022 (*GSlI's 2022 Financial
Statements™)  (accessible on  https://mww.goldmansachs.com/investor-
relations/financials/subsidiary-financial-info/gsi/2022/12-31-2 2-financial-

statements.pdf); and

Q) The Annual Report forthe period ended 31 December 2021 of GSI ("GSl's 2021
Annual Report"), containing, in Part I, the Directors' Report and Audited
Financial Statements of GSI for the period ended 31 December 2021 ("GSlI's 2021
Financial Statements™) (accessible on https:/Avww.goldmansachs.com/investor-
relations/financials/subsidiary-financial-info/gsi/2021/12-31-2 1-financial-
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statements.pdf).
Cross-Reference List

GSl's 2023 GSl's 2023 GSl's 2023

GSlI Third Second First

Information  GSl's 2023 Quarter Quarter Quarter GSl's 2022  GSlI's 2021
in the Fiscal Annual Financial Financial Financial Annual Annual

Statement Report Report Report Report Report Report
Management pp. 2-35 pp. 1-6 pp. 1-15 pp. 1-3 pp. 2-30 pp. 2-30
Report/
Strategic
Report
Report of the pp. 36-40 N/A N/A N/A pp. 31-49 pp. 31-49
Directors
Balance Sheet p. 50 p.8 p. 17 p.5 p. 47 p. 47
Profit and p. 49 p.7 p. 16 p. 4 p. 46 p. 46
Loss Account
/ Income
Statement
Statement of p. 52 N/A p. 19 N/A p. 49 p. 49
Cash Flows

Notes to the pp. 53-93 pp. 9-14 pp. 20-33 pp. 6-11 pp. 50-90 pp. 50-90
Financial
Statements

Independent pp. 41-48 N/A N/A N/A pp. 38-45 pp. 38-45
Auditors'
Report

(b)

Any information included in the documents incorporated by reference that is not included in the
cross reference list is notincorporated by reference and is therefore not relevant to an investor
(meaningthatit is not necessary informationto be included in this Base Prospectus pursuantto
Article 6(1) of the EU Prospectus Regulationand is not othe rwise required to be included under
the relevant schedules of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 supplementing
Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing
Commission (EC) No 809/2004, (as amended, the "EU PR Regulation™).".

deleting sub-section 4 entitled "The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.” on pages 164 to 167 of the
Base Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

"4. The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.

GSG filesdocumentsand informationwith the SEC. The following documents, which have previously
been published andfiled with the SEC, shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in, and to form
part of, this Base Prospectus:

@)

(b)

The Current Report on GSG's 15 April 2024 Form 8-K of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
("GSG's 15 April 2024 Form8-K"), including Exhibit 99.1 ("Exhibit99.1to GSG's 15 April
2024 Form 8-K") as filed with the SEC on 15 April 2024 (accessible on
https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/financials/8k/2024/8k-04-15-24.pdf);

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2023 of The Goldman
Sachs Group, Inc. ("GSG's 2023 Form10-K™), containing financial statements relating to the
fiscal years ended 31 December 2023, 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, including
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©

(d)

©)

(f)

©

(h)

(i)

()

(k)

Exhibit21.1, asfiled with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on 23 February 2024
(accessible on https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/financials/10k/2023/2023-10-

k.pdf):

The Current Report on Form 8-K dated 16 January 2024 of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
("GSG's 16 January 2024 Form 8-K"), including Exhibit 99.1 ("Exhibit 99.1 to GSG's 16
January 2024 Form 8-K") as filed with the SEC on 16 January 2024 (accessibke on

https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/financials/8k/2024/8k-01-16-24.pdf);

The Quarterly Reporton Form 10-Q for the third fiscal quarter ended 30 September 2023 of the
Goldman SachsGroup, Inc. ("GSG's 2023 Third Quarter Form 10-Q™), as filed with the SEC
on 3 November 2023 (accessible on https:/mww.goldmansachs.com/investor-
relations/financials/109/2023/third-quarter-2023-10-q.pdf);

The Current Report on Form 8-K dated 17 October 2023 of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
("GSG's 17 October 2023 Form 8-K") including Exhibit 99.1 ("Exhibit 99.1 to GSG's 17
October 2023 Form 8-K"), as filed with the SEC on 17 October 2023 (accessibke on

https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/financials/8k/2023/8k-10-17-23.pdf);

The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second fiscal quarter ended 30 June 2023 of the
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. ("GSG's 2023 Second Quarter Form 10-Q"), as filed with the
SEC on 3 August 2023 (accessible on https:/mww.goldmansachs.com/investor-

relations/financials/109/2023/second-quarter-2023-10-g.pdf);

The Current Report on Form 8-K dated 19 July 2023 of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
("GSG's 19 July 2023 Form 8-K") including Exhibit 99.1 ("Exhibit 99.1 to GSG's 19 July
2023 Form 8-K"), as filed with the SEC on 19 July 2023 (accessible on

https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/financials/8k/2023/8k-07-19-23.pdf);

The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first fiscal quarter ended 31 March 2023 of the
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. ("GSG's 2023 First Quarter Form 10-Q"), as filed with the SEC
on 4 May 2023 (accessible on  https:/Mmww.goldmansachs.com/investor-

relations/financials/10q/2023/first-quarter-2023-10-g.pdf):

The Current Report on Form 8-K dated 18 April 2023 of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
("GSG's 18 April 2023 Form 8-K") including Exhibit 99.1 ("Exhibit99.1 to GSG's 18 April
2023 Form 8-K"), as filed with the SEC on 18 April 2023 (accessibke on

https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/financials/8k/2023/8k-04-18-23.pdf);

The Proxy Statementrelatingto GSG's 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders on 26 April 2023
("GSG's 2023 Proxy Statement"), as filed with the SEC on 17 March 2023 (accessible on
https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/financials/proxy-statements/2023/2023-

proxy-statement-pdf.pdf); and

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2022 of The Goldman
Sachs Group, Inc. ("GSG's 2022 Form 10-K"), containing financial statements relating to the
fiscal years ended 31 December 2022, 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, including
Exhibit21.1, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on 24 February 2023
(accessible on https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/financials/ 10k/2022/2022-10-

k.pdf).

The following table indicates where information required by the EU Prospectus Regulation to be
disclosed in, and incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus can be found in the documents
referred to above.

Information required by the EU PR

Regulation Document/Location

Risk factors relatingto GSG (Annex6, Section3, GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (Market risks (pp. 33-
Item 3.1 of the EU PR Regulation) 36), Liquidity risks (pp. 36-38), Credit risks

(pp. 38-40), Operational risks (pp. 40-45),
Legal and Regulatory risks (pp. 46-53),
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Information required by the EU PR
Regulation

Document/Location

Information about GSG

History and development of the company (Annex
6, Section4, Item4.1 of the EU PR Regulation)

Details of any recentevents particular to GSG
and which are to a material extent relevantto an
evaluation of GSG's solvency (Annex 6, Section
4, Item 4.1.5 of the EU PR Regulation)

Information on the material changes in GSG's
borrowing or funding structure since the last
financial year (Annex 6, Section 4, Item 4.1.7 of
the EU PR Regulation)

Description of the expected financing of GSGs
activities (Annex 6, Item 4, ltem 4.1.8 of the EU

PR Regulation)
Business overview

GSG's principal activities (Annex 6, Section 5,
Item 5.1 of the EU PR Regulation)

GSG's principal markets (Annex 6, Section 5,
Item 5.1.1 (c) of the EU PR Regulation)

Organisational Structure (Annex 6, Section 6,
Items 6.1 and 6.2 of the EU PR Regulation)

Trend information (Annex6, Section7, ltems 7.1
and 7.2 of the EU PR Regulation)
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Competition risks (pp. 54-56) and Market
Developments and General Business
Environment risks (pp. 56-59))

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (p. 1)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (pp. 62-123)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (pp. 83-86, 128-131,
188-190)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (pp. 83-86)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (pp. 1-5, 132)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (pp. 9-10, 61, 213)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (p. 38, Exhibit 21.1)

Exhibit 99.1 to GSG's 15 April 2024 Form 8-K
(pp. 1-6)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (pp. 62-123)

GSG's 2023 Third Quarter Form 10-Q (pp. 108-
172)

GSG's 2023 Second Quarter Form 10-Q (pp.
105-169)

GSG's 2023 First Quarter Form 10-Q (pp. 101-
161)

GSG's 2022 Form 10-K (pp. 57-118)

Exhibit 99.1 to GSG's 16 January 2024 Form 8-
K (pp. 1-8)

Exhibit 99.1 to GSG's 17 October 2023 Form
8-K (pp. 1-6)

Exhibit99.1to GSG's 19 July 2023 Form 8-K
(pp. 1-6)



Information required by the EU PR
Regulation

Document/Location

Administrative, management and supervisory
bodies, including conflicts of interest (Annex 6,
Section 9, Items 9.1 and 9.2 of the EU PR
Regulation)

Beneficial owners of more than five per cent.
(Annex 6, Section 10, Item 10.1 of the EU PR

Regulation)
Financial information

Audited historical financial information for the
fiscal years ended 31 December 2023, 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021 (Annex
6, Section 11, Iltems11.1.1 and 11.1.5 of theEU
PR Regulation)

Audit report (Annex 6, Section 11, Item
11.1.1 of the EU PR Regulation)

Balance sheet (Annex 6, Section 11,
Item11.1.5 of the EU PR Regulation)

Income statement (Annex 6, Section 11,
Item11.1.5 of the EU PR Regulation)

Cash flow statement (Annex 6, Section
11, Item 11.15 of the EU PR
Regulation)

Accounting policies and explanatory
notes (Annex 6, Section 11, Item 11.15

of the EU PR Regulation)

Unaudited interim and other financial
information (Annex 6, Section11, Item11.2.1 of
the EU PR Regulation)

Balance sheet (Annex 6, Section 11,
Iltem11.2.1 of the EU PR Regulation)
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Exhibit 99.1to GSG's 18 April2023 Form 8-K
(pp. 1-6)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (pp. 27-28)
GSG's 2023 Proxy Statement (pp. 6-30, 97-99)
GSG's 2022 Form 10-K (pp. 24-25)

GSG's 2023 Proxy Statement (p. 102)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (pp. 128-239)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (pp. 125-127)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (p. 129)

Exhibit 99.1 to GSG's 16 January 2024 Form 8-
K (pp. 1-8)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (p. 128)

Exhibit 99.1 to GSG's 16 January 2024 Form 8-
K (pp. 1-8)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (p. 131)

GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (pp. 64-67, 132-239)

GSG's 2023 Third Quarter Form 10-Q (pp. 1-
105)

GSG's 2023 Second Quarter Form 10-Q (pp. 1-
102)

GSG's 2023 First Quarter Form 10-Q (pp. 1-98)

Exhibit 99.1 to GSG's 15 April 2024 Form 8-K
(p.9)

GSG's 2023 Third Quarter Form 10-Q (p. 2)
GSG's 2023 Second Quarter Form 10-Q (p. 2)

GSG's 2023 First Quarter Form 10-Q (p. 2)



Information required by the EU PR
Regulation Document/Location

Income statement (Annex 6, Section11, Exhibit99.1 to GSG's 15 April2024 Form 8-K
Item11.2.1 of the EU PR Regulation) (p. 8)

GSG's 2023 Third Quarter Form 10-Q (p. 1)
GSG's 2023 Second Quarter Form 10-Q (p. 1)
GSG's 2023 First Quarter Form 10-Q (p. 1)

Cash flow statement (Annex 6, Section ~ GSG's 2023 Third Quarter Form 10-Q (p. 4)
11, Item 11.2.1 of the EU PR
Regulation) GSG's 2023 Second Quarter Form 10-Q (p. 4)

GSG's 2023 First Quarter Form 10-Q (p. 4)

Accounting policies and explanatory GSG's 2023 Third Quarter Form 10-Q (pp. 5-
notes (Annex 6, Section 11, ltem 1121 105)

of the EU PR Regulation)
GSG's 2023 Second Quarter Form 10-Q (pp. 5-

102)
GSG's 2023 First Quarter Form 10-Q (pp. 5-98)

Legal and arbitration proceedings (Annex 6, GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (pp. 60, 216-230)
Section1l, Item11.4.1ofthe EU PR Regulation)

Additional information

Share capital (Annex 6, Section 12, Item 12.1 of GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (pp. 130, 201-203)
the EU PR Regulation) )
GSG's 2023 Third Quarter Form 10-Q (pp. 3,

75-77)
GSG's 2022 Form 10-K (pp. 125, 192-194)
Material contracts

Material contracts (Annex 6, Section 13, ltem GSG's 2023 Form 10-K (pp. 188-190)

13.1 of the EU PR Regulation) )
GSG's 2023 Third Quarter Form 10-Q (pp. 62-

65)
GSG's 2022 Form 10-K (pp. 180-183)

Certain material risks that are specific to the Issuer and/or Guarantor and that may affect the Issuers
and/or Guarantor's ahility to fulfil its obligations under the Securities may be described by referring to
the relevant sections therein of the above documents incorporated by reference (as applicable). See

"Risks relating to GSG" under the section of this Base Prospectus entitled "Risk Factors".

Any information included in the documents incorporated by reference that isnot included in the cross-
referencelist is not incorporated by reference andis thereforenotrelevantto aninvestor (meaning that
it is not necessary informationto beincluded in this Base Prospectus pursuant to Article 6(1) ofthe EU
Prospectus Regulationand is not otherwise required to be included under the relevant schedules of the
EU Prospectus Regulation).".

Amendments to the section entitled ""General Terms and Conditions of the Instruments"”

The information in the sectionentitled "General Terms and Conditions of the Instruments” is amended
and supplemented by deleting the definitions appearing in paragraph (iii) of the definition of "Non-
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scheduled Early Repayment Amount™ in General Instrument Condition 2(a) (Definitions) on page 234
of the Base Prospectus in their entirety and replacing them with the following:

"Where:

"N (Prior Fixed Recovery Date)" or "N(PFRD)" means, in respect of the Relevant Day;, (i) if "Linearly
Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is not specified to be applicable in the relevant I ssue Terms, the
number of calendar days falling in the period commencing on, but excluding, the Optional Redemption
Date (Call) immediately precedingthe Relevant Day (or if there is no Optional Redemption Date (Call)
precedingthe Relevant Day, the Issue Date) and endingon, and including, the Relevant Day, or (ii) if
"Linearly Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is specified to be applicable in the relevant Issue
Terms, the number of calendar days falling in the period commencingon, butexcluding, the Issue Date
and ending on, and including, the Relevant Day.

"N (Prior Fixed Recovery Date, Future Fixed Recovery Date)" or ""N(PFRD, FFRD)" means, in
respect of the Relevant Day:

(i) if "Linearly Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is not specified to be applicable in the
relevant Issue Terms, the number of calendar days falling in the period:

(@) commencing on, but excluding, the Optional Redemption Date (Call) immediately
precedingthe Relevant Day (orif there is no Optional Redemption Date (Call) preceding
the Relevant Day, the Issue Date);

(b) andendingon, and including:

(1)  if the Relevant Day falls on an Optional Redemption Date (Call), such Optional
Redemption Date (Call); or

(I if the Relevant Day does not fall on an Optional Redemption Date (Call), the
Optional Redemption Date (Call) immediately following the Relevant Day; or

(11) if the Relevant Day does notfallon an Optional Redemption Date (Call) and there
is no Optional Redemption Date (Call) following the Relevant Day, the Scheduled
Maturity Date; or

(i)  if "Linearly Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is specified to be applicable in the relevant
Issue Terms, the number of calendar days falling in the period commencing on, but excluding,
the Issue Date and ending on, and including, the Scheduled Maturity Date.

"Future Fixed Recovery Amount" or "FFRA" means, in respect of the Relevant Day:

() if "Linearly Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is not specified to be applicable in the
relevant Issue Terms, an amount equal to:

(@) if the Relevant Dayfalls on an Optional Redemption Date (Call), an amount equal to the
Optional Redemption Amount (Call) corresponding to such Optional Redemption Date
(Call) payable in respect of an Instrument; or

(b) ifthe Relevant Day does notfallon an Optional Redemption Date (Call), an amount equal
to the Optional Redemption Amount (Call) corresponding to the Optional Redemption
Date (Call) immediately following the Relevant Day payable in respect of an Instrument;
or

(c) if the Relevant Day does not fall on an Optional Redemption Date (Call) and there is no
Optional Redemption Date (Call) following the Relevant Day, an amount equal to the
Settlement Amount payable in respect of an Instrument; or
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(i)  if "Linearly Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is specified to be applicable in the relevant
Issue Terms, in respectof an Instrument,anamount equal to the LAV (Settlement Amount).

"Issue Price Percentage" means the percentage specified in the relevant Issue Terms.
"LAV (Settlement Amount)" means the amount specified in the relevant Issue Terms.

"Prior Fixed Recovery Amount" or "PFRA" means, in respect of the Relevant Day, (i) if
"Linearly Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is notspecified to be applicable in the relevant
Issue Terms, an amount equal to the Optional Redemption Amount (Call) corresponding to the
Optional Redemption Date (Call) immediately preceding such Relevant Day payable in respect
of an Instrument, provided that if there is no Optional Redemption Date (Call) preceding the
Relevant Day, the PFRA forsuch Relevant Day shall be an amount equalto the product of the
Issue Price Percentage multiplied by the Nominal Amount, or (ii) if "Linearly Accreted Value
(Modified Definitions)" is specified to be applicable in the relevant I ssue Terms, anamountequal
to the product of the Issue Price Percentage multiplied by the Nominal Amount.".

Amendments to the section entitled ""General Terms and Conditions of the Notes"

The information in the section entitled “General Terms and Conditions of the Notes" is amended and
supplemented by deleting the definitions appearing in paragraph (iv) of the definition of "Non-scheduled
Early Repayment Amount” in General Note Condition 2(a) (Definitions) on pages 342 to 343 of the
Base Prospectus in their entirety and replacing them with the following:

"Where:

"N (Prior Fixed Recovery Date)" or "N(PFRD)" means, in respect of the Relevant Day;, (i) if "Linearly
Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is not specified to be applicable in therelevant Issue Terms, the
number of calendar days falling in the period commencing on, but excluding, the Optional Redemption
Date (Call) immediately preceding the Relevant Day (or if there is no Optional Redemption Date (Call)
precedingthe Relevant Day, the Issue Date) and endingon, and including, the Relevant Day, or (ii) if
"Linearly Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is specified to be applicable in the relevant Issue
Terms, the number of calendar days falling in the period commencingon, butexcluding, the Issue Date
and ending on, and including, the Relevant Day.

"N (Prior Fixed Recovery Date, Future Fixed Recovery Date)" or "N(PFRD, FFRD)" means, in
respect of the Relevant Day:

() if "Linearly Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is not specified to be applicable in the
relevant Issue Terms, the number of calendar days falling in the period:

(@) commencing on, but excluding, the Optional Redemption Date (Call) immediately
precedingthe Relevant Day (orif there is no Optional Redemption Date (Call) preceding
the Relevant Day, the Issue Date);

(b) andendingon, and including:

(1) if the Relevant Day falls on an Optional Redemption Date (Call), such Optional
Redemption Date (Call); or

(I1) if the Relevant Day does not fall on an Optional Redemption Date (Call), the
Optional Redemption Date (Call) immediately following the Relevant Day; or

(111) if the RelevantDay does notfallon an Optional Redemption Date (Call) and there
is no Optional Redemption Date (Call) following the Relevant Day, the Scheduled
Maturity Date; or
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(ii)

if "Linearly Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is specified to be applicable in the relevant
Issue Terms, the number of calendar days falling in the period commencing on, but excluding,
the Issue Date and ending on, and including, the Scheduled Maturity Date.

"Future Fixed Recovery Amount” or "FFRA™ means, in respect of the Relevant Day:

(i

(ii)

if "Linearly Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is not specified to be applicable in the
relevant Issue Terms, an amount equal to:

(@) if the Relevant Dayfallson an Optional Redemption Date (Call), an amount equal to the
Optional Redemption Amount (Call) corresponding to such Optional Redemption Date
(Call) payable in respect of each Note (of the Specified Denomination); or

(b) ifthe Relevant Day does notfall on an Optional Redemption Date (Call), an amount equal
to the Optional Redemption Amount (Call) corresponding to the Optional Redemption
Date (Call) immediately following the Relevant Day payable in respect of each Note (of
the Specified Denomination); or

(c) if the Relevant Day does not fallon an Optional Redemption Date (Call) and there is no
Optional Redemption Date (Call) following the Relevant Day, an amount equal to the
Final Redemption Amount payable in respect of each Note (of the Specified
Denomination); or

if "Linearly Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is specified to be applicable in the relevant
Issue Terms, in respect of each Note (of the Specified Denomination), an amount equal to the
LAV (Final Redemption Amount).

"Issue Price Percentage" means the percentage specified in the relevant Issue Terms.
"LAV (Final Redemption Amount)" means the amountspecified in the relevantIssue Terms.

"Prior Fixed Recovery Amount" or "PFRA" means, in respect of the Relevant Day, (i) an
amount equal to the Optional Redemption Amount (Call) corresponding to the Optional
Redemption Date (Call) immediately preceding such Relevant Day payable in respect of each
Note (of the Specified Denomination), provided that if there is no Optional Redemption Date
(Call) precedingthe Relevant Day, the PFRA forsuch Relevant Day shall be an amountequal to
the product of the Issue Price Percentage multiplied by the Specified Denomination, or (i) if
"Linearly Accreted Value (Modified Definitions)" is specified to be applicable in the relevant
Issue Terms, an amount equal to the product of the Issue Price Percentage multiplied by the
Specified Denomination."

Amendments to the section entitled "'Index Linked Conditions™

The information in the sectionentitled "Index Linked Conditions" isamended and supplemented by:

(@)

inserting the following new Index Linked Condition immediately after the Index Linked
Condition 3.3 (Occurrence of a Change in Law) on page 605 of the Base Prospectus (and all
subsequent paragraphs shall be re-numbered accordingly):

"4 Consequences of an Index Calculation Agent Cessation Event

4.1 If the relevant Issue Terms specify "Index Calculation Agent™to be applicable foran
Index, then an "Index Calculation Agent Cessation Event" shall have occurred in
respect of an Index if the Calculation Agent, acting in good faithand in a commercially
reasonable manner, determines that:

(i) on any day in the period commencing on, and including, the Trade Date and
endingon, and including, the Maturity Date, the Index Calculation Agent is @)
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(b)

4.2

4.3

4.4

not able to calculateand/or announce such Index or (b) is replaced by a successor
index calculation agent; and

(i) such occurrence could (a) materially interfere with the ability of the Issuer and/or
any ofitsaffiliate(s) to unwind, maintain or establish all ora material portion of
the hedge positions of the Issuer (and/or its affiliate(s)) in respect of the Index
Linked Securities, and/or (b) materially change the risks associated with
maintaining such hedge positions.

Subject to the provisos in Index Linked Condition 4.4 below, on the occurrence of an
Index Calculation Agent Cessation Event in respect of an Index, the Issuer may, acting
in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, (i) replace such Index with a
replacement asset or basket of assets that preserves as closely as commercially
practicable the original economic and investment objective of such Index (the
"Substitution Asset™) with effect from the Substitution Date, and (i) make such
adjustments to the terms of the Index Linked Securities (including, without limitation,
any variable or term relevant to the calculation or payment under the Index Linked
Securities) as the Calculation Agent determines appropriateto account for the economic
effect on the Index Linked Securities of the occurrence or existence of such Index
Calculation Agent Cessation Event and the replacement of such Index with the
Substitution Asset and to preserve the original economic objective and rationale of the
Index Linked Securities.

Following the Substitution Date for an Index and in respect of any relevant day, any
reference tosuch Indexshallbe deemed to be a reference to the Substitution Asset.

Provided that if:

(i) it (@) isor would be unlawfulatany timeunderany applicable law or regulation;
or (b) would contravene any applicable licensing requirements for the Issuer
and/or Calculation Agent to perform the actions prescribed in paragraph 4.2
above (or it would be unlawful orwould contravene those licensing requirements
were a determination to be made at such time); or

(ii) the Calculation Agent, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable
manner, determines thatthe Issuer is unable, for whatever reason, to replace such
Index with a Substitution Asset in a manner that wouldachieve a commercially
reasonable result forany of the Issuer, the Calculation Agent or the Holders,

then, in either case, on giving notice to Holders in accordance with General Instrument
Condition 25 (Notices) or General Note Condition 23 (Notices), as the casemay be, the
Issuer may (butshallnotbe obliged to) redeem the Index Linked Securities in whole but
notin part, each Index Linked Security being redeemed by payment of anamountequal
to the Non-scheduled Early Repayment Amount of such Index Linked Security, as
determined by the Calculation Agent. Payments will be made in such mannerasshall be
notified to the Holders in accordance with General Instrument Conditions 25 (Notices)
or General Note Condition 23 (Notices), as the case may be.";

inserting the following new definitions immediately after the definition of "Index Basket" in
Index Linked Condition 8 (Definitions) on page 615 of the Base Prospectus:

""Index Calculation Agent" means, foran Index other than a Proprietary Index, the entity
specified in the relevant Issue Terms.

"Index Calculation Agent Cessation Event" has the meaning given thereto in Index Linked
Condition 4.1 (Consequences of Index Calculation Agent Cessation Event)."; and
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©)

inserting the following new definition immediately after the definition of "Strategy Value" in
Index Linked Condition 8 (Definitions) on page 622 of the Base Prospectus:

"Substitution Date" means the date as determined by the Calculation Agent on which the
replacementof an Index with a Substitution Asset andany relevant adjustmentsto the terms of
the Index Linked Securities shall be deemed to be effective.".

Amendments to the section entitled ""Fund Linked Conditions™

The information in the sectionentitled "Fund Linked Conditions" isamended and supplemented by:

@)

(b)

deleting the definition of "Reference Date™ in Fund Linked Condition 7 (Definitions) on page
714 of the Base Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

""Reference Date" means in respect of a Fund, each Initial Valuation Date, each Initial
Averaging Date, each Entry Level Observation Period Date, each Valuation Date or each
Averaging Date, in each case, subjectto adjustment in accordance with these Fund Linked
Conditions.”; and

deleting the definition of "Scheduled Reference Date" in Fund Linked Condition 7 (Definitions)
on page 715 of the Base Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

"Scheduled Reference Date" means in respect of a Fund, each Scheduled Initial VValuation
Date, each Scheduled Initial Averaging Date, each Scheduled Valuation Date, or each Scheduled
Averaging Date, orany original date that, but for such day beinga Fund Market Disruption Day
for such Fund, would have been an Entry Level Observation Date, as the case may be.".

Amendments to the section entitled "'Swap Rate Linked Conditions"

The information in the section entitled "Swap Rate Linked Conditions™ is amended and supplemented

by:
@)

deleting the definition of "*Valuation Date™ in Swap Rate Linked Condition 3 (Definitions) on
page 733 of the Base Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

""Valuation Date" means, in respect of a Swap Rate:

(@ each date specified as such in the relevant Issue Terms or otherwise determined as
provided in the Conditions, and/or in the relevant Issue Terms; and/or

(ii) as specified in the relevant Issue Terms, the number of U.S. Government Securities
Business Days or New York Business Days or Relevant Swap Rate Business Days or
calendar days preceding (a) each Autocall Payment Date, or (b) the date on whicheach
Autocall Payment Date is scheduled to fall; and/or

(iiiy  asspecified in the relevant Issue Terms, the number of U.S. Government Securities
Business Days or New York Business Days or Relevant Swap Rate Business Days or
calendar days preceding (a) each Coupon Payment Date, or (b) the date on which each
Coupon Payment Date is scheduled to fall; and/or

(iv) as specified in the relevant Issue Terms, the number of U.S. Government Securities
Business Days or New York Business Days or Relevant Swap Rate Business Days or
calendar days preceding the Scheduled Maturity Date or Maturity Date,

in each case, subject to adjustment (as a Reference Day) in accordance with these Swap Rate
Linked Conditions.".

Amendments to the section entitled "Interest Reference Rate Linked Conditions"
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The information in the section entitled "Interest Reference rate Linked Conditions" is amended and
supplemented by:

@)

deleting the definition of "Valuation Date" in Interest Reference Rate Linked Conditions 3
(Definitions) on page 737 of the Base Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the
following:

""Valuation Date" means, in respect of an Interest Reference Rate:

0)

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

each date specified as such in the relevant Issue Terms or otherwise determined as
provided in the Conditions, and/or in the relevant Issue Terms; and/or

as specified in the relevant Issue Terms, the number of U.S. Government Securities
Business Days or New York Business Days or Relevant Interest Reference Rate
Business Days or calendar days preceding (a) each Autocall Payment Date, or (b) the
date on which each Autocall Payment Date is scheduled to fall; and/or

as specified in the relevant Issue Terms, the number of U.S. Government Securities
Business Days or New York Business Days or Relevant Interest Reference Rate
Business Days or calendar days preceding (a) each Coupon Payment Date, or (b) the
date on which each Coupon Payment Date is scheduled to fall; and/or

as specified in the relevant Issue Terms, the number of U.S. Government Securities
Business Days or New York Business Days or Relevant Interest Reference Rate
Business Days or calendar days preceding the Scheduled Maturity Date or Maturity Date,

in each case, subjectto adjustment (as a Reference Date) in accordance with these Interest
Reference Rate Linked Conditions.".

Amendments to the section entitled ""Form of Final Terms (Instruments)"

The information in the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Instruments)" is amended and
supplemented by:

@)

9.

deleting item 9 ([Valuation / Pricing] Date(s)) on pages 834 to 835 of the Base Prospectus in
its entirety and replacing it with the following:

[Valuation / Pricing] Date(s): [®] [Adjusted Valuation Date] [Not Applicable].

(Delete one or both of the sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph if not required)

[If Maturity Date Roll on Payment Date Adjustment
is specified to be applicable, insert:]

The [ ®] [Expected Scheduled Trading Day /
Expected Common Scheduled Trading Day]
precedingthe Adjusted Scheduled Maturity Date.]

[The Valuation Dateis expected to be [@®] as of the
date of these Final Terms.]

[As specified for Open-ended Instruments in the
applicable Underlying Asset Conditions]
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[If Swap Rate Linked Securities or Interest
Reference Rate Linked Securities, if applicable,
insert:]

[In respect of [the/each] [Swap Rate/Interest
Reference Rate],] [ ® ] [[the/The] [ ®] [U.S.
Government Securities Business Day] [New York
Business Day] [Relevant Swap Rate Business Day]
[Relevant Interest Reference Rate Business Day]
[calendar days] preceding [each Coupon Payment
Date/ the date onwhich each Coupon Payment Date
is scheduled to fall] [and] [each Autocall Payment
Date/ the date onwhich each Autocall Payment Date
is scheduledto fall] [and] [the [Scheduled] Maturity
Date].]

[~ Final Reference Date: [The [Valuation/Pricing] Date scheduled to fall
[on]] [ ®] [immediately preceding the Maturity
Date] [As specified in the Conditions in respect of
American Style Warrants] [Not Applicable].

[~ Number of Relevant Days forthe [®] [Business Days] [Clearing System Business

purposes of "Final Reference Date™:] Days] [Scheduled Trading Days] [Scheduled
Commodity Business Days] [Fund Calculation
Days] [days] [Not Applicable].

[~ Lookback Observation Date: [Each Valuation Date] [The Valuation Dates
scheduled to fall on [®@]] [Not Applicable].

(b) insertingthe followingto theright columnof item 12(vi) (Initial Average Price) on page 837 of
the Base Prospectus, immediately before the words, "[Not Applicable]":

"[As specified in the Payout Conditions]";

(c) deletingthe first paragraph of item 29(x) (Conditional Coupon (Coupon Payment Condition 1.3))
on pages 867 to 868 of the Base Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following
(and, for the avoidance of doubt, sub-paragraphs (a), (b), and (c) of item 29(x) shall not be
deleted or amended):

(x) Coupon Payment Date: [[®] (specify date)] [In respect of a Coupon
Observation Date, the date set forth in the
Contingent Coupon Table in the column entitled
"Coupon Payment Date" in the row corresponding
to such Coupon Observation Date] [Maturity Date]
[Not Applicable].

[In respect of a Coupon Observation Date, the day
falling the Specified Number of Business Day(s)
afterthe Relevant Coupon Payment Determination
Date in respect of such Coupon Observation Date]
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(d)

©)

[The Coupon Payment Date shall be:

(i)  the Autocall Payment Date following the
first Autocall Observation Date (if any) on
which an Autocall Event occurs; or

(i)  if no Autocall Event occurs on any Autocall
Observation Date, the Maturity Date].

- [Specified Numberof Business [®] Business Day([s] following the [Scheduled
Day(s) for the purposes of the Coupon Observation Date] [Relevant Coupon
definition of "CouponPayment Payment Determination Date].

Date":
] (If Not Applicable, delete this sub-paragraph)

- [Relevant Coupon Payment [The [Latest Reference Date in respect of the]
Determination Date:] Coupon Observation Date [corresponding
to/immediately preceding] such Coupon Payment
Date] [In respect of a Coupon Observation Date,
such Coupon Observation Date] [®] (specify other

date).

(If Not Applicable or if specified below, delete this
sub-paragraph)

inserting the following line items at theend of item 50 (Non-scheduled Early Repayment Amount)
on page 936 of the Base Prospectus, immediately after the line item entitled, "Adjusted for Issuer
Expenses and Costs":

Linearly Accreted Value (Modifed [Applicable] [Not Applicable].

Definitions): [If Not Applicable, delete the next row]

- LAV (Settlement Amount): [e]."and

inserting the following new sub-paragraph immediately after sub-paragraph 64 (xxix) (Index
Linked Instruments) on page 951 of the Base Prospectus (and all subsequent sub-paragraphs
shall be re-numbered accordingly):

"(xxx)  Index Calculation Agent: [Applicable: [®] (specify name of Index

Calculation Agent) / Not Applicable]".

10. Amendments to the section entitled ""Form of Final Terms (Notes)"

The informationin thesectionentitled "Form of Final Terms (Notes)" isamended and supplemented by:

@)

deleting item 10 ([Valuation / Pricing] Date(s)) on page 1002 of the Base Prospectus in its
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entirety and replacing it with the following:

10. [Valuation / Pricing] Date(s): [®] [Adjusted Valuation Date] [Not Applicable].
(Delete one or both of the sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph if not required)

[If Maturity Date Roll on Payment Date Adjustment
is specified to be applicable, insert:]

The [ ®] [Expected Scheduled Trading Day /
Expected Common Scheduled Trading Day]
precedingthe Adjusted Scheduled Maturity Date.]

[The Valuation Date isexpectedto be [ @] as of the
date of these Final Terms.]

[As specified for Open-ended Instruments in the
applicable Underlying Asset Conditions]

[If Swap Rate Linked Securities or Interest
Reference Rate Linked Securities, if applicable,
insert:]

[In respect of [the/each] [Swap Rate/Interest
Reference Rate],] [ ® ] [[the/The] [ ®] [U.S.
Government Securities Business Day] [New York
Business Day] [Relevant Swap Rate Business Day]
[Relevant Interest Reference Rate Business Day]
[calendar days] preceding [each Coupon Payment
Date/ the date on which each Coupon Payment Date
is scheduled to fall] [and] [each Autocall Payment
Date/ the date on which each Autocall Payment
Date is scheduledto fall] [and] [the [Scheduled]
Maturity Date].]

[~ Final Reference Date: [The [Valuation/Pricing] Date scheduled to fall
[on]] [®] [immediately preceding the Maturity
Date] [Not Applicable].

[~ Number of Relevant Days forthe [®] [Business Days] [Clearing System Business

purposesof "Final Reference Date™:] Days] [Scheduled Trading Days] [Scheduled
Commodity Business Days] [Fund Calculation
Days] [days] [Not Applicable].

[~ Lookback Observation Date: [Each Valuation Date] [The Valuation Dates
scheduled to fall on [®]] [Not Applicable].

(b) insertingthe followingto the right column of item 1 3(vii) (Initial Average Price) on page 1005
of the Base Prospectus, immediately before the words, "[Not Applicable]":

"[As specified in the Payout Conditions]";
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(c) deletingthe first paragraph of item 30(x) (Conditional Coupon (Coupon Payment Condition 1.3))
on pages 1033to 1034 of the Base Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following
(and, for the avoidance of doubt, sub-paragraphs (a), (b), and (c) of item 30(x) shall not be
deleted oramended):

(x) Coupon Payment Date: [[®] (specify date)] [In respect of a Coupon
Observation Date, the date set forth in the
Contingent Coupon Table in the column entitled
"Coupon Payment Date" in the row corresponding
to such Coupon Observation Date.] [Maturity Date]
[Not Applicable].

[In respect of a Coupon Observation Date, the day
falling the Specified Number of Business Day(s)
afterthe Relevant Coupon Payment Determination
Date in respect of such Coupon Observation Date]

[The Coupon Payment Date shall be:

(i)  the Autocall Payment Date following the
first Autocall Observation Date (if any) on
which an Autocall Event occurs; or

(i)  if no Autocall Event occurs on any Autocall
Observation Date, the Maturity Date].

- [Specified Numberof Business [®] Business Day([s] following the [Scheduled
Day(s) for the purposes of the Coupon Observation Date] [Relevant Coupon
definition of "CouponPayment Payment Determination Date].

Date":
] (If Not Applicable, delete this sub-paragraph)

- Relevant Coupon Payment [The [Latest Reference Date in respect of the]
Determination Date for the Coupon Observation Date [corresponding
purposes of the definition of to/immediately preceding] such Coupon Payment
"Coupon Payment Date":: Date] [In respect of a Coupon Observation Date,

such Coupon Observation Date] [®] (specify other
date) [Not Applicable].

(If Not Applicable, delete this sub-paragraph)

(d) insertingthe following line items at theend of item 53 (Non-scheduled Early Repayment Amount)
on page 1101 of the Base Prospectus, immediately after the line item entitled, "Adjusted for
Issuer Expenses and Costs":

"~ Linearly Accreted Value (Modified [Applicable] [Not Applicable].
Definitions): [If Not Applicable, delete the next row]

- LAV (Settlement Amount): [¢]."; and

48



11.

(e) inserting the following new sub-paragraph immediately after sub-paragraph 56(xxx) (Index
Linked Notes) onpage 1112 ofthe Base Prospectus (andall subsequentsub-paragraphs shall be
re-numbered accordingly):

"(xxxi) Index Calculation Agent: [Applicable: [®] (specify name of Index
Calculation Agent) / Not Applicable]"

Amendments to the section entitled ""Form of Pricing Supplement (Instruments)*

The information in the section entitled "Form of Pricing Supplement (Instruments)" is amended and
supplemented by:

@) deleting item 9 ([Valuation/ Pricing] Date(s)) on page 1160 of the Base Prospectus in its
entirety and replacing it with the following:

9. [Valuation / Pricing] Date(s): [®] [Adjusted Valuation Date] [Not Applicable].
(Delete one or both of the sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph if not required)

[If Maturity Date Roll on Payment Date Adjustment
is specified to be applicable, insert:]

The [ ®] [Expected Scheduled Trading Day /
Expected Common Scheduled Trading Day]
preceding the Adjusted Scheduled Maturity Date.]

[The Valuation Dateis expected to be [®] as of the
date of these Final Terms.]

[As specified for Open-ended Instruments in the
applicable Underlying Asset Conditions]

[If Swap Rate Linked Securities or Interest
Reference Rate Linked Securities, if applicable,
insert:]

[In respect of [the/each] [Swap Rate/Interest
Reference Rate],] [ ® ] [[the/The] [®] [U.S.
Government Securities Business Day] [New York
Business Day] [Relevant Swap Rate Business Day]
[Relevant Interest Reference Rate Business Day]
[calendar days] preceding [each Coupon Payment
Date/ the date onwhich each Coupon Payment Date
is scheduled to fall] [and] [each Autocall Payment
Date/ the date onwhich each Autocall Payment Date
is scheduledto fall] [and] [the [Scheduled] Maturity
Date].]

[~ Final Reference Date: [The [Valuation/Pricing] Date scheduled to fall on]
[®] [immediately prior to the Maturity Date] [As
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specified in the Conditions in respect of American
Style Warrants] [Not Applicable].

[~ Number of Relevant Days forthe [®] [Business Days] [Clearing System Business

purposesof "Final Reference Date™:] Days] [Scheduled Trading Days] [Scheduled
Commodity Business Days] [Fund Calculation
Days] [days] [Not Applicable].

[~ Lookback Observation Date: [Each Valuation Date] [The Valuation Dates
scheduled to fall on [®]] [Not Applicable].

(b) deletingthe first paragraph ofitem 29(x) (Conditional Coupon (Coupon Payment Condition 1.3))
on page 1194 of the Base Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following (and, for
the avoidance of doubt, sub-paragraphs (a), (b), and (c) of item 29(x) shall not be deleted or
amended):

(x) Coupon Payment Date: [[®] (specify date)] [In respect of a Coupon
Observation Date, the date set forth in the
Contingent Coupon Table in the column entitled
"Coupon Payment Date" in the row corresponding
to such Coupon Observation Date] [Maturity Date]
[Not Applicable].

[In respect of a Coupon Observation Date, the day
falling the Specified Number of Business Day/(s)
afterthe Relevant Coupon Payment Determination
Date in respect of such Coupon Observation Date]

[The Coupon Payment Date shall be:

()  the Autocall Payment Date following the
first Autocall Observation Date (if any) on
which an Autocall Event occurs; or

(iiy  if no Autocall Event occurs on any Autocall
Observation Date, the Maturity Date].

- [Specified Numberof Business [®] Business Day([s] following the [Scheduled
Day(s) for the purposes of the Coupon Observation Date] [Relevant Coupon
definition of "CouponPayment Payment Determination Date].

Date™:
] (If Not Applicable, delete this sub-paragraph)

- [Relevant Coupon Payment [The [Latest Reference Date in respect of the]
Determination Date:] Coupon Observation Date [corresponding
to/immediately preceding] such Coupon Payment
Date] [In respect of a Coupon Observation Date,
such Coupon Observation Date] [®] (specify other

date).
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(If Not Applicable or if specified below, delete this
sub-paragraph)

Amendments to the section entitled **Form of Pricing Supplement (Notes)"

The information in the section entitled "Form of Pricing Supplement (Notes)" is amended and
supplemented by:

@) deleting item 10 ([Valuation / Pricing] Date(s)) on page 1334 of the Base Prospectus in its
entirety and replacing it with the following:

10. [Valuation / Pricing] Date(s): [ @] [Adjusted Valuation Date] [Not Applicabke].
(Delete one or both of the sub-paragraphs of this
paragraph if not required)

[If Maturity Date Roll on Payment Date Adjustment
is specified to be applicable, insert:]

The [ ®] [Expected Scheduled Trading Day /
Expected Common Scheduled Trading Day]
precedingthe Adjusted Scheduled Maturity Date.]

[The ValuationDate isexpectedto be [ @] as of the
date of these Final Terms.]

[If Swap Rate Linked Securities or Interest
Reference Rate Linked Securities, if applicable,
insert:]

[In respect of [the/each] [Swap Rate/Interest
Reference Rate],] [ ® ] [[the/The] [ ®] [U.S.
Government Securities Business Day] [New York
Business Day] [Relevant Swap Rate Business Day]
[Relevant Interest Reference Rate Business Day]
[calendar days] preceding [each Coupon Payment
Date/ the date on which each Coupon Payment Date
is scheduled to fall] [and] [each Autocall Payment
Date/ the date on which each Autocall Payment
Date is scheduledto fall] [and] [the [Scheduled]
Maturity Date].]

[~ Final Reference Date: [The [Valuation/Pricing] Date scheduled to fall on]
[®] [immediately prior to the Maturity Date] [Not
Applicable].

[~ Number of Relevant Days forthe [®] [Business Days] [Clearing System Business

purposesof "Final Reference Date™:] Days] [Scheduled Trading Days] [Scheduled
Commodity Business Days] [Fund Calculation
Days] [days] [Not Applicable].
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[~ Lookback Observation Date: [Each Valuation Date] [The Valuation Dates
scheduled to fall on [®]] [Not Applicable].

(b) deletingthe first paragraph of item 30(x) (Conditional Coupon (Coupon Payment Condition 1.3))
on page 1366 ofthe Base Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following (and, for
the avoidance of doubt, sub-paragraphs (a), (b), and (c) of item 30(x) shall not be deleted or
amended):

(x) Coupon Payment Date: [[®] (specify date)] [In respect of a Coupon
Observation Date, the date set forth in the
Contingent Coupon Table in the column entitled
"Coupon Payment Date" in the row corresponding
to such Coupon Observation Date.] [Maturity Date]
[Not Applicable].

[In respect of a Coupon Observation Date, the day
falling the Specified Number of Business Day(s)
afterthe Relevant Coupon Payment Determination
Date in respect of such Coupon Observation Date]

[The Coupon Payment Date shall be:

()  the Autocall Payment Date following the
first Autocall Observation Date (if any) on
which an Autocall Event occurs; or

(iiy  if no Autocall Event occurs on any Autocall
Observation Date, the Maturity Date].

- [Specified Number of Business [®] Business Day([s] following the [Scheduled
Day(s) for the purposes of the Coupon Observation Date] [Relevant Coupon
definition of "CouponPayment Payment Determination Date].

Date":]
(If Not Applicable, delete this sub-paragraph)

- Relevant Coupon Payment [The [Latest Reference Date in respect of the]
Determination Date: Coupon Observation Date [corresponding
to/immediately preceding] such Coupon Payment
Date] [In respect of a Coupon Observation Date,
such Coupon Observation Date] [®] (specify other

date) [Not Applicable].

(If Not Applicable, delete this sub-paragraph)

13. Amendments to the section entitled ""Goldman Sachs International*"

The informationin the section entitled "Goldman Sachs International" isamended and supplemented
by:

(@) deletingthe fourth paragraph under the sub-sectionentitled "General Information on Goldman
Sachs International™ on page 1686 of the Base Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with
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(b)

©

the following:

"A description of GSI's principal future investments onwhich its managementbody has already
madefirm commitments may be found in Note 26 ofthe "Notes to the Financial Statements” at
page 73 of GSI's2023 Annual Report, which has beenincorporated by reference into this Base
Prospectus as set out above.";

deletingthe first paragraph under the sub-section entitled "Capitalisation™ on page 1686 of the
Base Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

"As at 31 December 2023, GSI had 598,182,053 issued ordinary shares of U.S.$ 1.00each. The
issue of additional shares by GSI shall be at the discretion of the Directors of GSI in accordance
with Article 1.6 of the Articles of Associationof GSI. All of the issued shares are fully paid and
are owned by Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited."; and

deleting the sub-section entitled "Selected Financial Information™ on page 1691 of the Base
Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

""Selected Financial Information

The selected financial information set outbelow has beenextracted from GSl's 2023 Financial
Statements and GSI's 2022 Financial Statements, which have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and onwhich PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP issued an unqualified
audit report.

GSl's 2023 Financial Statements and GSl's 2022 Financial Statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). The financial
information presented below should be read in conjunction with the financial statements
included in such documents, the notes thereto and report thereon.

The followingtable shows selected key historical financial information in relation to GSI:

As at and for the period ended

(audited)
(in USD millions) 31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Operating Profit N/A N/A
Profit before taxation 5,066 4974
Profit for thefinancial period | 4,151 4,028

As at (audited)

(in USD millions) 31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Fixed Assets 530" 573!

Current Assets 1,200,455 1,200,101

Total Shareholders' Equity | 40,119 42,209

! Fixed Assets are computed by adding (i) Property, leasehold improvements and equipment, (ii) Intangible assets
and (iii) Right-of-use assets in Note 14. Other Assets of GSI's 2023 Financial Statements."".
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14. Amendments to the section entitled ""General Information*

The information in the section entitled "General Information" is amended and supplemented by:

@)

(b)

©)

(d)

deleting the paragraph (a) relating to GSI in sub-section 2 entitled "Financial Statements" on
page 1828 of the Base Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

"@) Goldman Sachs International

The statutory financial statements of GSI for the periods ended 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022 have been audited without qualification by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors, of 7
More London Riverside, London, SE1 2RTin accordance with the laws of England.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is a registered member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales.";

deleting the statement relating to GSI in sub-section 3 entitled "No significant change in the
financial position or financial performance and no material changein prospects™ onpage 1829
of the Base Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

"GSI: There has beenno significantchange in the financial position or financial performance of
GSI and its consolidated subsidiaries since 31 December 2023. There has been no material
adverse change in the prospects of GSI since 31 December 2023.";

deleting sub-section 4 entitled "Litigation” on page 1829 of the Base Prospectus in its entirety
and replacing it with the following:

"4, Litigation

Save as disclosed in (i) "Legal Proceedings"” of Note 27 to the Financial Statements
(pages216to 230) of GSG's 2023 Form 10-Kand (i) "Legal Proceedings" of Note 26 to
the Financial Statements (page 74) of GSI's 2023 Annual Report, there have been no
governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which
are pendingorthreatened of which GSI, GSW, GSFCI or GSG is aware) duringthe 12
months before the date of this Base Prospectus (as supplemented to, and including, the
date of Prospectus Supplement No. 3) which may have, or have had in the recent past,
significant effects on GSI, GSW, GSFCI or GSG's financial position or profitability.",
and

deletingsub-section5 entitled "Availability of Documents™ on pages 1829 to 1830 of the Base
Prospectus in its entirety and replacing it with the following:

"5, Availability of Documents

Copies of the following documents will be made available for at least 10 years and may be
obtainedfree of charge upon request duringnormal business hours from the specified office of
the Issuers and the office of the Paying Agent in Luxembourg and each of the Paying Agents
and (in the case of (i), on https://Aww.goldman-sachs.ch/ch/media/ch/dokumente/sonstiges/19-
10-04-GSFCI_Constitutional Documents.pdf and in the case of (i) to (xxvii) and (xxxiii) to
(xxxv) on thewebsite ofthe Issuerat https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/):

() the constitutional documents of GSFCI;
(i)  the constitutional documents of GSW;
(iii)  the constitutional documents of GSlI;

(iv) the certificate of incorporation of GSG;
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(v)  GSI's 2023 Third Quarter Financial Report;

(vi) GSI's 2023 Second Quarter Financial Report;

(vii) GSlI's 2023 First Quarter Financial Report;
(viii) GSI's 2023 Annual Report;
(ix) GSlI's2022 Annual Report;

(x)  GSI's2021 Annual Report;

(xi)  GSW's 2023 Interim Financial Statements;

(xii) GSW's 2022 Annual Report;
(xiii) GSW's 2021 Annual Report;

(xiv) GSFCI's 2023 Interim Financial Statements;

(xv) GSFClI's 2022 Annual Report;

(xvi) GSFClI's 2021 Annual Report;

(xvii) GSG's 15 April 2024 Form 8-K;

(xviii) GSG's 16 January 2024 Form 8-K;
(xix) GSG's 17 October 2023 Form 8-K;
(xx) GSG's 19 July 2023 Form 8-K;

(xxi) GSG's 18 April 2023 Form 8-K;

(xxii) GSG's 2023 Third Quarter Form 10-Q;
(xxiii) GSG's 2023 Second Quarter Form 10-Q;
(xxiv) GSG's 2023 First Quarter Form 10-Q;
(xxv) GSG's 2023 Proxy Statement;

(xxvi) GSG's 2023 Form 10-K;

(xxvii) GSG's 2022 Form 10-K;

(xxviii)  the GSG Guaranty;

(xxix) the GSI Guarantee;

(xxx) the GSI (Cayman) Guarantee;

(xxxi) the Programme Agency Agreement;

(xxxii) the Deed of Covenant and the Cayman Deed of Covenant;

(xxxiii)  the Issue Termsforeach Tranche or Series of Securities that are listed onthe
Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange;

(xxxiv) a copy of the Base Prospectus;

(xxxv)a copy of any supplement to the Base Prospectus and Issue Terms; and
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(xxxvi) all reports, letters and other documents, balance sheets, valuations and
statements by any expert any partof whichis extracted orreferred toin this Base

Prospectus.".
Interpretation

To the extent thatthere is any inconsistency between (a) any statementin this Prospectus Supplement and (b) any
otherstatement in orincorporated by reference intothe Base Prospectus, the statements in (a) above will prevail

Referencesto the Base Prospectus shall hereafter mean the Base Prospectus as supplemented by this Prospectus
Supplement.

U.S. notice

This Prospectus Supplement is not for use in, and may not be delivered to or inside, the United States.

The date of this Prospectus Supplement is 30 April 2024.
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